
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
  

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

30 November 2021 
 
TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE CABINET 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE CABINET 

 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Cabinet on 
Wednesday, 8th December, 2021 at 6.30 pm 
in the Committee Room, Municipal Buildings 

 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 
Membership: 
 
Leader of the Council – Councillor Paul Skinner 
Deputy Leader – Councillor Nigel Welton 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Richard Austin BEM, Deborah Evans, Martin Griggs and 
Jonathan Noble 

 

A G E N D A 
 
PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 10) 
 

 To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting. 
 

B   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

C   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

D   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 

 To answer any written questions received from members of the public no later than 
5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this meeting the deadline 
is 5 p.m. on Friday, 3rd December 2021. 
 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY (STANDING ITEM)*  
 

2   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE BOSTON TOWN AREA COMMITTEE (BTAC) 
(STANDING ITEM)  
 

3   LINCOLNSHIRE WOMEN'S CONCORDAT (Pages 11 - 52) 
 

 (A report by Peter Hunn, Community Safety Manager) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Paul Skinner 

 

4   EMPOWERING HEALTHY COMMUNITIES: COUNCILLOR GRANT SCHEME 
UPDATE (Pages 53 - 80) 
 

 (A report by Nicola Holderness, Empowering Healthy Communities Coordinator) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Martin Griggs  
 

5   LOCAL COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2022/23 (Pages 81 - 100) 
 

 (A report written by Sharon Hammond, Head of Revenues and Benefits) 
  
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Jonathan Noble  
 

6   QUARTER 4 REPORT - FINANCE (Pages 101 - 114) 
 

 A report written by Peter Davy, Acting Deputy Chief Finance Officer & Samantha 
Knowles, Assistant Director – Finance  
 

7   QUARTER 2 REPORT - PERFORMANCE, RISK AND FINANCE (Pages 115 - 
148) 
 

 (A report by Suzanne Rolfe, Insights and Transformation Manager & Peter Davy, 
Acting Deputy Chief Finance Officer) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Jonathan Noble  
 

8   ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CORPORATE STRATEGY (Pages 149 - 154) 
 

 (A report by Suzanne Rolfe, Insights &Transformation Manager)  
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Nigel Welton  



 

 

 

 
 

* In accordance with the Constitution, recommendations of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees referred to Cabinet (if any) shall be included at this point in the 
agenda (unless they have been considered in the context of the Cabinet 
deliberations on a substantive item on the agenda) within six weeks of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee completing its report / recommendations. 

 
Call-In –any decision taken by the Cabinet concerning an item on this agenda can be 
‘called in’ in accordance with the Constitution, within 5 working days of the decision 
notice being published.  It is expected that the decision notice will be published on                                   
10th December 2021.  Subject to this publication, the deadline for calling in a decision 
is 5 p.m. on Friday, 17th December 2021. 
 

 
Notes: 
  
As Covid 19 is still perceived as a risk, the Council will continue to manage the workplace 
to protect all who use it. 
  
All persons proposing to attend this meeting in person are encouraged to take a Lateral  
Flow Test before entering the building.  ALL persons entering Boston Borough Council 
premises are required to sign into the Test and Trace registers.  
  
During the meeting, all attendees should endeavor to maintain social distance, wash and 
sanitise hands and ensure fresh air is entering the room via opened windows or fresh air 
ventilation system. 
  
A Risk Assessment in place for this meeting, which details any mitigating factors and is 
available on request from the Health and Safety Team. 
  
 
 
 
Alternative Versions - Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format 
such as larger text, Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on 
direct dial (01205) 314227 
 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lorraine Bush, 
Democratic Services Manager, Municipal Buildings, Boston Tel. no: 01205 314224 e-mail 
lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk 



This page is intentionally left blank



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
NOTICE OF DECISIONS TAKEN BY CABINET ON 20 OCTOBER 2021 

 
DATE OF PUBLICATION: FRIDAY, 22 OCTOBER 2021 

 
DEADLINE FOR CALL-IN: FRIDAY, 29 OCTOBER 2021 

 
NOTES: 
 
MINUTE 31, BEING A STARRED MINUTE, WILL BE REFERRED TO THE MEETING 
OF FULL COUNCIL ON 22 NOVEMBER 2021 
 
A COPY OF THE CABINET AGENDA HAS BEEN PREVIOUSLY CIRCULATED TO 
ALL MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL.  IF YOU REQUIRE ANY FURTHER 
INFORMATION ON ANY ISSUE PLEASE CONTACT, IN THE FIRST INSTANCE, THE 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER OR OFFICER NAMED IN THE RIGHT HAND COLUMN. 
 

 
MEETING OF THE CABINET 20 October 2021 
 
 
Present: 
Councillor Paul Skinner, in the Chair 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Richard Austin BEM, Deborah Evans, Martin Griggs, 
Jonathan Noble and Nigel Welton 
 
Officers –  
Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive (Place), Assistant Director - Regulation and 
Climate Change and Environment Manager 
 
23   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 8th September 2021 were agreed and 
signed by the Chairman. 
 
24   APOLOGIES 

 
No Apologies of absence were received. 
 
25   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
None. 
 
 
26   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 
None. 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item A



27   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY (STANDING 
ITEM)* 
 

 

 

DECISION 

 

That consideration of a borough-wide community governance review 

(CGR) be referred back to the Boston Town Area Committee to take into 

account the views of the Corporate & Community Committee and carry out 

consultation to gauge public appetite for a review. 

Portfolio 

Holders 

and 

Officer 

 

NW/LB 

 

 
 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
The Deputy Leader introduced a recommendation from the Corporate & Community 
Committee’s meeting of 17th August 2021, when the Committee had considered a report that 
set out information and options relating to the possibility of conducting a Community 
Governance Review (CGR). 
 
The Boston Town Area Committee (BTAC) had issued a request that the Council 
considered conducting a CGR of the town wards of the borough area under section 80 of 
the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.  The Committee was 
asked to make a recommendation to Cabinet on whether a CGR should be undertaken. 
 
Following its consideration, the Committee resolved to ask Cabinet to consider the following 
recommendation: 
 

“That Cabinet considers a borough-wide community governance review (CGR) and refers 
back to the Boston Town Area Committee, if necessary, to request the Committee’s views.” 
 

The Deputy Leader suggested that the matter could be referred back to BTAC for the 

Committee to consider carrying out a consultation to gauge public appetite for a CGR 

because of the significant costs involved. 

 

The Chief Executive reported that other areas that recently gone through the CGR process 
had been looked at and it had been noticed that they had taken the route described by the 
Deputy Leader, which he considered a sensible option. 
 
In response to concerns raised, the Deputy Chief Executive confirmed that the final decision 
would not be made by BTAC itself; it would be a decision for Full Council.   
 
The Deputy Leader then put this forward as a proposal and when put to the vote it was 
carried with one vote against. 
 

 

Page 2



Cabinet 
20 October 2021 

 

 
 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
28   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE BOSTON TOWN AREA COMMITTEE 

(BTAC) (STANDING ITEM) 
 

None. 
 
29   DRAFT CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY 

 
 

 

DECISION 

 

That the draft Climate Change Strategy goes out to public consultation 

this autumn and a final version be brought back to Cabinet and Council in 

Spring 2022 for approval. 

Portfolio 

Holders 

and 

Officer 

 

PS/SB 

 

 
 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
The Climate Change & Environment Manager presented a report, which provided the 
background to the accompanying draft Climate Change Strategy for the geographical area 
covered by the new South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (SELCP).  
 
The document was the next step in the authorities’ Climate Change aspirations, moving 
beyond the confines of individual carbon footprints and emissions to look at the wider issues 
for Climate Change in the local communities.  
 
The Partnership could not deliver this strategy in isolation and a new South and East 
Lincolnshire Climate Action Network (SELCAN) would be established to bring together all 
relevant partners and ensure delivery at all levels as work progressed towards a net zero 
ambition. 

Page 3



 
The draft Climate Change Strategy sought to provide an overarching framework to reduce 
emissions as a whole across Boston, East Lindsey and South Holland.  It identified the 
strategic themes central to helping achieve the carbon reduction ambitions not just of the 
three Councils but of the UK as a whole, as the nation sought to be net zero by 2050. 
 
The inclusion of South Holland within the strategy had been taken very recently and so this 
current draft was quite ‘light touch’ at the current time in relation to that.  As the consultation 
period progressed and further discussions were held, additional context would be added to 
ensure the document was as balanced as possible for the three Councils.  The three-way 
approach would give greater strength in drawing down necessary funding as efforts could be 
shown to be based on a clear strategic need. 
 
It was envisaged that delivery of the Strategy would be the responsibility of the SELCAN 
with the support the Partnership.  SELCAN would bring together stakeholder representatives 
from across the area, including relevant authorities, business leaders, non-governmental 
organisations and communities.  Careful thought would be given to managing this 
successfully given the geographical scale of the area it covered. 

The Strategy had used currently available data alongside recognised local priorities as the 
rationale for a number of key themes relevant to the area: Transport; Built Environment; 
Energy/Renewables; Business; Agriculture/Food; Water (Flood Risk and Drought) and 
Natural Environment.  Under each theme, the key challenges and opportunities had been 
identified together with a series of strategic actions that needed to be taken forward.  These 
would form the basis of the delivery plan, which SELCAN would coordinate once 
established. 

It was important to note that while the Strategy focused on driving down carbon emissions, it 
also sought to promote a more sustainable approach which, as well as helping to address 
Climate Change issues, would bring wider benefits for the local communities including 
improved health and wellbeing outcomes, economic prosperity and social value. 

If the Strategy was to succeed, it was important that it reflected the aspirations of the local 
area and, therefore, engagement in its development was key.  In order to achieve this, it 
was intended a period of public consultation on the draft Strategy would be held in 
November/December 2021.  Stakeholder workshops would also be arranged with attendees 
tasked at looking at the individual themes in detail and given the opportunity to bring forward 
anything they felt had been missed. 

Following the consultation period, a revised Climate Change Strategy would be compiled 
and brought back to Cabinet in early 2022 seeking recommendation of its approval to 
Council.  Once Council has approved the document, the newly established SELCAN would 
be asked to adopt the Strategy and move forward with the delivery plan. 

By taking the lead on developing a Climate Change Strategy for South and East 
Lincolnshire, the Councils of Boston, East Lindsey and South Holland were sending a clear 
message both locally, and nationally, that they were committed to playing their part in 
tackling the challenges Climate Change presented.  Success could not be achieved in 
isolation and in fostering new relationships and strengthening existing ones, the three 
Councils would promote a coordinated and collaborative approach to addressing a global 
issue.  Successful delivery of this Strategy would ultimately lead to more vibrant, cohesive 
and healthier communities, which would appreciate the importance of a balanced, 

Page 4



Cabinet 
20 October 2021 

 

 
 

sustainable future in delivering multiple benefits for everyone. 

The Climate Change & Environment Manager added that the SELCP partnership with South 
Holland District Council was very recent and SHDC had not had the opportunity to take this 
report through their scrutiny process; therefore, there would be a minor delay in terms of 
consultation, but she was confident that the process could still move forward within the 
proposed timeline. 
 
The Leader asked Members to consider the draft Climate Change Strategy and agree for it 
to go out to public consultation in the autumn.  A final version would then be brought back to 
Cabinet and Council in Spring 2022 for approval. 
 
During debate, Members commended the strategy and noted the minimal cost to the 
Council owing the external funding that had been sourced.  There was reference to the 
importance of the provision of public transport.  The Deputy Leader stressed how the 
strategy’s aim for a sustainable future would positively impact the local area. 
 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
30   SOCIAL MEDIA ACCEPTABLE USE POLICY 

 
 

 

DECISION 

 

1. The Social Media Acceptable Use Policy be approved and its 

implementation across the Council’s Social Media accounts be 

endorsed. 

2. That a report be submitted to Cabinet after a period of six months 

to evaluate the policy’s effectiveness. 

Portfolio 

Holders 

and 

Officer 

 

PS/RR 

 

 

 

Page 5



 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
The Leader presented a report, which sought Cabinet’s approval of a Social Media 
Acceptable Use Policy and endorse its implementation across the Council’s social media 
accounts. 
 
Social media was one of the Council’s key mechanisms to communicate with the 
community.  Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn and Instagram were all used as tools to provide 
information and service updates from the Council, engaging with thousands of people each 
week. 
 
Social media provided a means for the community to provide direct feedback to the Council 
by commenting on posts.  On occasions, replies to posts were inappropriate or misleading 
and as such the draft Social Media Acceptable Use Policy, attached at Appendix A, had 
been developed to provide a governance framework to enable the Council to proactively 
manage its social media accounts. 
 
Having such a policy would give officers the ability to deal with inappropriate or misleading 
comments in an effective manner and in a way that protected users of the accounts. 
 
Members welcomed the policy and reiterated its importance in preventing unacceptable 
media use that could damage the reputation of the Council. 
 
A Member felt it would be important to monitor the effectiveness of the policy and suggested 
that it be reported back to Cabinet in six months’ time. 
 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
Not to have a policy. This was discounted as there is a need for a mechanism for the 
Council to manage comments made on posts that fall within the parameters of the proposed 
policy. 
 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
 
31   * BOSTON CITY STATUS APPLICATION 

Page 6



Cabinet 
20 October 2021 

 

 
 

 
 

 

DECISION 

 

That it be recommend to Full Council: 

1. To agree Boston Borough Council’s submission of an application 

for the town to receive City Status as part of the competition to 

celebrate Her Majesty the Queen’s Platinum Jubilee in 2022. 

2. To delegate authority to Councillor Richard Austin, in consultation 

with the Deputy Chief Executive (Place), to approve and submit the 

application for City Status by the deadline of 8th December 2021 

Portfolio 

Holders 

and 

Officer 

 

PS/MS 

 

 
 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 
The Leader presented a report, which set out the details of a draft application that officers 
were working on with partners to submit for Boston to receive City Status as part of a 
competition launched to celebrate Her Majesty the Queen’s Platinum Jubilee in 2022. 
 
The application form instructions and entry guidelines were appended the report as 
Appendix A and B.  A campaign engagement plan had been circulated separately as 
Appendix C.   
 
Boston’s City Status application supported Priority 1 People Focussed and 2 Future 
Prosperity, Regeneration and Inclusive Growth in Boston’s Corporate Strategy.   
 
City Status would raise the profile of Boston as a place to live, visit and invest in and would 
support the Town Investment Plan (Town Deal), bolstering the growth objectives as a 
regional sub-centre of the County. 
 
There would be a minimal budget requirement.  The Government was asking local 
authorities to submit their entries in a standard size and format to help minimise the expense 
of entering the competitions and to provide the Government with a fair basis for comparison 
and assessment of the entries received. 
 
Promotional activities could be integrated into existing contracts and resources and 
information could be gathered from the Communications team, Boston Town Deal Board, 
Social Change (Empowering Healthy Communities) and the Community Champion Network 
as well as local businesses, Transported, Boston BIG Local and Community Groups 
An internal project team had been established, which met regularly and followed an action 
plan for preparation of the bid and to enable communications and engagement.  Partners 
and stakeholders had been identified and were listed in the report.   
 
Planned communication/engagement had commenced with Boston’s intention to apply for 
City Status, launched in July and picked up by Lincolnshire Live, and there had been further 
media coverage since. 

Page 7



 

A communications and engagement plan would be supported by the project team and 
ensure engagement with all partners and stakeholders. A partnership approach to Boston’s 
application would utilise existing and established networks, including the Boston Town Deal 
Board, Boston Borough Council communications team and the Community Champion 
Network. 
 
Existing contracts for Pride of Place and the Town Deal will support the delivery of a 
proactive communications and engagement plan. 
 
The timeline and milestones were set out in the report with the intention of reporting to Full 
Council on 22 November in time for the deadline for submission of applications on 8 
December 2021. 
 
Cabinet was asked to agree the Council’s submission of the application and to delegate 
authority to the Portfolio Holder in consultation with the Deputy Chief Executive (Growth) to 
approve and submit the application for City Status by the deadline of 8th December 2021. 
 

During debate, Members noted the “minimal budget requirements” stated in the report and 
there was a query regarding the number of interested community groups and how would 
they be involved.  
 
The Deputy Chief Executive explained that the budget had not yet been finalised; however, 
the majority of work would be carried out in-house with the help of stakeholders and 
partners.  Information relating to community groups was appended to the report.   
 
Members described the opportunity to apply for city status as wonderful, one that would 
instil pride in the area and stimulate excitement, even if city status itself was not achieved. 
 
The Chief Executive referred to the honour that city status would convey; this was a rare 
opportunity and very worthwhile pursuing. 
 
The Leader commented on the positive impact of the application and its advantages for 
businesses. 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive reported phenomenal feedback from the Historic Place Panel 
after their recent visit; they had commended Boston’s heritage and ambitious plans.  There 
had also been very positive television coverage. 
 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
No other options were considered given the deadline for the bid submission. 
 
Guidance was sought on the eligibility of Boston becoming a Royal Borough. Places have to 
be explicitly granted or confirmed the use of the title "royal" by royal charter, letters patent or 
similar instrument issued by the monarch. Since 1926 the entitlement to the title "royal 
borough" has been strictly enforced. 
 

 

Page 8



Cabinet 
20 October 2021 

 

 
 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 7.20 pm 
 
 

Signed by the Chief Executive  

 
FRIDAY, 22 OCTOBER 2021 

 
 
 
 

 
These decisions will come into force (and may then be implemented) on the expiry of 
five clear working days after the date of this notice UNLESS the decisions are 
subjected to the Call-In procedure or are starred minutes requiring Full Council 
approval.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 8th December 2021 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE:  

Lincolnshire Women’s Concordat 

 

To support the recommendation made in response to an invitation 

from Lincolnshire’s Police and Crime Commissioner to join the 

Lincolnshire Women’s Concordat.   

KEY DECISION: N/A 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Paul Skinner 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

N/A 

Peter Hunn (Community Safety Manager) 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: All 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

Reducing offending is a priority for the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership (SLP), of which Boston 

Borough Council is a member.  Recent work has contributed to a greater understanding of 

female offenders, leading to the development of a Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy, which 

outlines what can be done to help prevent entry into the criminal justice system, and improve 

support for those already in it.   

To help achieve this, a Lincolnshire Women’s Concordat has been introduced.  The Police and 

Crime Commissioner (PCC) for Lincolnshire has written to all Chief Executive Officers with an 

invitation to participate in the concordat.  This report provides a summary of the key 

information to inform members about this work, what it will entail, and ask for support with the 

recommendation made. 

 

 

 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That members agree to sign up to the Lincolnshire Women’s Concordat and commit to the 

requirements set out within. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

This is a key piece of work to support both national and local strategies to improve outcomes for 

women and girls at risk of entering, or those who have already entered, the criminal justice 

system.  As a member of the SLP, it is recommended that Boston Borough Council participates in 

the Lincolnshire Concordat to maximise the outcomes that can be achieved in Lincolnshire. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Acknowledge the hard work that has been undertaken by the Reducing Offending Core Priority 

Group (ROCPG) but decline to sign up to the Women’s Concordat. 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1. The SLP currently has four priorities: Domestic Abuse, Anti-Social Behaviour, Serious and 

Organised Crime, and Offending/Reoffending. The latter is being managed by the county 

level ROCPG.   

1.2. In early 2020 the ROCPG commissioned a piece of analytical work to improve 

understanding of female offenders in Lincolnshire.  Lincolnshire Action Trust (LAT) 

subsequently secured funding from the Ministry of Justice (MOJ) to support the creation of 

a woman’s strategy in respect of offending (Appendix A).  Development of the strategy 

incorporated the voices of women who had recently left the criminal justice sector.   

1.3. The Lincolnshire strategy aims to deliver the outcomes set out in the MOJ’s Female 

Offender Strategy published in June 2018 (Appendix B).  

1.4. The MOJ has led on a national concordat on ‘Women at Risk of contact with the Criminal 

Justice System’ (Appendix C).  This identifies how partner agencies should work together to 

recognise and respond to women’s needs, encouraging partnership working.  It is not 

intended to replace existing arrangements, if they are working well, but to develop, and 

improve existing support for females. 

 

2. REPORT 

 

2.1. To drive delivery of the Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy (and outcomes sought by the 
national strategy) it has been agreed that a Lincolnshire Concordat is needed.  The PCC for 
Lincolnshire has written to all Chief Executive Officers, inviting them to participate in a 
Lincolnshire Concordat (Appendix D and E).  

Page 12



3 
 

2.2.  As set out in the letter: ‘The aim is for all services and agencies to unite to interrupt 
the pathways that currently lead women into the criminal justice system by delivering 
the services they need in ways they have told us works for them’. 

2.3. The Lincolnshire Concordat sets out how agencies should work together to improve 
outcomes for women and girls at risk of entering, or who have already entered the 
criminal justice system.   

2.4. Women who had recently left the criminal justice system were heavily involved in 
shaping the Lincolnshire Strategy, helping to identify key themes that should be 
applied by all services, as set out below: 
 

2.4.1. Behaviours had been shaped by isolation, family problems, debt, addiction, and 
untreated mental ill-health.  

2.4.2. Their traumatic experiences in childhood had resulted in coping strategies 
associated with crime, with disastrous outcomes for themselves and others. 

2.4.3. They experienced a lack of support, inadequate continuity of care and failure to 
adopt mental health and trauma informed approaches. 

2.4.4. Fractured or lost family relationships had heightened their need for support. 

2.5. The SLP is mindful that women-specific services that are delivered in areas like 
Lincolnshire (in geography and population), are lacking in in the county, to the 
disadvantage of women and girls. 

2.6. By signing the concordat, this will show a commitment to this work, and to making 
necessary changes to organisational business plans, strategic priorities, and budgetary 
allocations. For commissioners of services, it will need close inspection of service 
thresholds and access that at present exclude women and girls.  

2.7. The delivery of this strategy will be led by the ROCPG, and an annual report will be 
produced, hosted on the PCC’s website alongside the Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy. 

2.8. This concordat will ensure that all services and partners work together to support 
women and girls, and will promote the delivery of the strategic priorities which should 
result in: 

2.8.1. Fewer women coming into the criminal justice system. 

2.8.2. Fewer women in custody (especially on short term sentences) and a greater 
proportion of women supported in the community successfully. 

2.8.3. Better conditions for those who are in custody 

2.9. Council Leaders across the South and East Lincolnshire Council’s Partnership have 
been briefed on the concordat and have agreed, in principle, to sign up to it.  This 
report seeks agreement from members to support this proposal. 

 
3. CONCLUSION 

3.1. This report seeks to formally consult with members on a letter from the Lincolnshire PCC 
inviting Boston Borough Council to participate in the Lincolnshire Women’s Concordat.  
This will support delivery of outcomes set out in the national and county women’s 
strategies. 

Page 13



4 
 

3.2. The report outlines that working in partnership to deliver services that women and girls 
need will help to interrupt pathways that lead them into the criminal justice system. 

3.3. As a partner of the SLP and the priority work streams, participation in the Women’s 
Concordat is encouraged to maximise the outcomes for females in Lincolnshire.  

 
EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

The recommendation supports the aims and ambitions of the South and East Lincolnshire Council’s 
Partnership in terms of working collectively, opportunities for joint commissioning, and improving 
the quality of services provided to local people. 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

Each of the Sovereign Councils are committed to the concordat and therefore the South and 

East Lincolnshire Council’s Partnership will demonstrate a commitment to making necessary 

changes to organisational business plans, strategic priorities, and budgetary 

allocations.  Commissioners of services will need to closely examine service thresholds and 

access to services, that at present exclude women and girls.  This work will be co-ordinated as 

a Partnership response across the three Councils. 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

None 

 

STAFFING 

None 

 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

DATA PROTECTION 

None 

 

FINANCIAL 

None 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

None 

 

Page 14



5 
 

STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Leaders of the South and East Lincolnshire Council’s 

Partnership.  All lend their support to signing up to the Lincolnshire Women’s Concordat. 

 

REPUTATION 

None 

CONTRACTS 

None 

 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

None 

 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

The Lincolnshire Concordat is focussed on the needs of women and girls.  This may be perceived as 

singling out a specific group at the exclusion of others. However, whilst there are far fewer females 

in contact with the criminal justice system, evidence shows that the females who are in it have a 

higher prevalence of needs, including mental health issues, substance misuse issues and previous 

experience of abuse and trauma.  The concordat therefore aims to support these specific needs 

with the services that are on offer in Lincolnshire.    

 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

None 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None  

 

ACRONYMS 

SLP - Safer Lincolnshire Partnership 

PCC- Police and Crime Commissioner 

ROCPG – Reducing Offending Core Priority Group 

LAT – Lincolnshire Action Trust 

MOJ – Ministry of Justice 

 

Page 15



6 
 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy: Supporting Women and Girls at Risk of 

Entering the Criminal Justice System 

APPENDIX B Female Offender Strategy 2018 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/female-offender-strategy 

APPENDIX C National Concordat on women in or at risk of contact with the criminal 
justice system 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/concordat-on-women-in-or-
at-risk-of-contact-with-the-criminal-justice-system 

APPENDIX D Letter from Police and Crime Commissioner, Marc Jones to Chief Executive 

Robert Barlow. 

APPENDIX E Lincolnshire Concordat Pledge 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author:  Peter Hunn 

Community Safety Manager 

Boston Borough Council 

Municipal Buildings, West Street 

Boston 

Lincolnshire 

PE21 8QR 

E-mail: Peter.Hunn@boston.gov.uk 

Signed off by:  Emily Spicer 

Assistant Director, Wellbeing and Community Leadership  

South Holland District Council 

Page 16

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/female-offender-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/concordat-on-women-in-or-at-risk-of-contact-with-the-criminal-justice-system
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/concordat-on-women-in-or-at-risk-of-contact-with-the-criminal-justice-system


7 
 

Council Offices, Priory Road 

Spalding 

Lincolnshire 

PE11 2XE 

E-mail: Emily.Spicer@sholland.gov.uk 

Approved for publication: Councillor Paul Skinner 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



L I N C O L N S H I R E
W O M E N ' S  S T R A T E G Y :
S U P P O R T I N G  W O M E N  A N D  G I R L S
A T  R I S K  O F  E N T E R I N G  T H E
C R I M I N A L  J U S T I C E  S Y S T E M

APPENDIX A

P
age 19



C O N T E N T S

L I N C O L N S H I R E  W O M E N ' S  S T R A T E G Y

Foreword

Introduction

Women's voices
 

Services in Lincolnshire

Strategic priorities

Conclusion

3

4

5

13

14

26

P
age 20



As your Police and Crime Commissioner and Co-Chair of the Safer
Lincolnshire Partnership's Overview and Scrutiny Board, I am delighted
to introduce the new Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy.
 
The Strategy is built on what women told us about their journeys into the
criminal justice system and about how their experiences might have been
different. All services have a role in preventing women’s violent
victimisation and traumatic experiences leading to such tragic outcomes.

Although too often vulnerable women have had to get support from within
the criminal justice system, the best response to their needs does not lie
in that system.

The availability of community health and other services to respond to
women at the right time and in the complexity of their needs, and access
to trauma informed and supportive therapeutic practice, would do much
to prevent entry into the criminal justice system in the first place.

F O R E W O R D

Marc Jones
Police & Crime Commissioner
for Lincolnshire

3

P
age 21



The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership has used a
Ministry of Justice Women’s Community Sector
Core Costs Funding Grant, awarded to
Lincolnshire Action Trust, to create a new
Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy to facilitate the
delivery in Lincolnshire of the outcomes sought by
the Ministry of Justice’s Female Offender Strategy
2018.

The grant award said, “The purpose of the grant
funding is to stabilise the financial position of
women’s community sector organisations in
England and Wales to support the continued
availability of community-based provision for
female offenders. This provision is essential to
successful delivery of the aims and objectives of
the Government’s Female Offender Strategy,
published in June 2018.”

I N T R O D U C T I O N

L I N C O L N S H I R E  W O M E N ' S  S T R A T E G Y

4

P
age 22

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/719819/female-offender-strategy.pdf


The women identified influences that had shaped their behaviour:
isolation, family problems, debt, addiction, and mental ill-health. 
Traumatic experiences in childhood had resulted in coping
strategies associated with crime, such as shop lifting and knife
carrying.
Mental health problems had gone untreated and had exacerbated
offending behaviours. 

Work on developing this strategy was informed by the voices of four
Lincolnshire women who had had experience of the criminal justice
system and who generously told us their stories. They were
interviewed confidentially by women academics from the University of
Lincoln who then summarised those stories in a meeting of the Safer
Lincolnshire Partnership’s sub-group formed to work on this strategy.
Those stories were hard to listen to because of what sub-group
members felt was the avoidable pain that the women, their families
and friends had experienced. The main themes from these interviews
were:

W O M E N ' S  V O I C E S

5

P
age 23



All four women spoke of fractured or lost
family relationships that had heightened their
need for support.
All four women reported positive things about
probation and Lincolnshire Action Trust's
women's service that probation had referred
them to. These included becoming more
hopeful and having opportunities to develop
or reshape positive identities.

There were key themes of lack of support,
inadequate continuity of care and failure to adopt
mental health informed and trauma informed
approaches.

W O M E N ' S  V O I C E S

6

P
age 24



W O M E N ' S  V O I C E S

7

Graduates from the University of Lincoln worked with the group
to create a short animation that captures the women's stories.

Watch the animation here.

P
age 25

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=l7lme4FOCf8
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=l7lme4FOCf8


Shoplifting
became
impulsive habit.

L A T E R
O F F E N D I N G

L U C Y ' S  S T O R Y

C H I L D H O O D

C R I M I N A L
J U S T I C E

S U P P O R T

O U T C O M E

Large family with
low income.

Mother died.
Poor health.
Loss of employment.

Drugs related
offences.

Manipulated by
someone she
knew during
this period and
she began
delivering
drugs.

Imprisoned
again.

Imprisoned in
adulthood with
little access to
support.

Life changing
support from
probation and
Lincolnshire
Action Trust
after release.

Desistance
from crime.

8

P
age 26



T E G A N ' S  S T O R Y

C R I M I N A L
J U S T I C E

C H I L D H O O D

V I C T I M I S A T I O N

S U P P O R T

O U T C O M E

Domestic abuse
and siblings with
mental health
support needs.

Raped by boyfriend.
Perpetrator not prosecuted.
Felt disbelieved.

Imprisoned and separated from child. 
Frightening experience.

Additional
support from
probation and
Lincolnshire
Action Trust
after release.
She felt heard.

Mental health support
obtained.

Substance use as
coping mechanism for
post-traumatic stress
disorder.

Arrested for
violent offending
against
perpetrator.
Traumatic
experience.

9

P
age 27



Mental health
support needs. 

Unable to get
sufficient
support.

Suicidal.

Assaulted
partner.

Compliant with
arrest and was
terrified by
situation.

Sentenced to
Community
Service. 

Enjoyed community service and
support provided by probation
and Lincolnshire Action Trust. 

K A R L A ' S  S T O R Y

C R I M I N A L
J U S T I C EC H I L D H O O D

V I C T I M I S A T I O N

O U T C O M E

Describes as
unproblematic.

Domestic
violence from
partner.

Miscarriage. 

No support
provided.

Relocated to Lincolnshire
with children. Housed in a
“terrifying” hostel.

1 0

P
age 28



H A N N A H ' S  S T O R Y

C R I M I N A L
J U S T I C E

In care at age of 13
with multiple
placements.
Negative peer
influences.

Raped but no
prosecution of
perpetrator. 

2 year delay
in court case.

New job and
was settled.

Excellent support from Lincolnshire
Action Trust on release and now in
settled accommodation and relationship
but requires ongoing support.

Debt issues.
Lost job as a carer.

Imprisoned.
Lost job and home.

Released on
home detention
curfew but bailed
to family home. 

Altercation and
recalled to prison.
Released and
housed in
“terrifying” hostel. 

C H I L D H O O D

V I C T I M I S A T I O N

O U T C O M E

1 1

P
age 29



The clear need for earlier intervention.
The need for continued possibilities for
support rather than support being cut off
through the time-limiting of interventions.
Support around positive identity and of
wishing to build up a positive identity.
Where they had had such support, it had
been beneficial.
Support needed to take place earlier rather
than being attached to the criminal justice
system and should be centred around
welcoming and safe groups in women only
spaces.
The positive impact of peer support with
women learning from each other. 
The power of the lived experience stories
from the criminal justice system in terms of
peer support and the need to explain the
later consequences of crime. 
The importance of the type of
accommodation made available after
custody to reflect the individual needs of
women. Some accommodation that women
had been required to live in had led to re-
traumatising experiences. 

Some suggestions had emerged from the
interviews:

The importance of support. It was sad that
the women said that they had received
effective support only within the criminal
justice system. A lot of women did not feel
safe in the world and simply needed a
safety net.
A key issue was the need to promote
positive identities as early as possible.
Support was also vital, but this was not just
mental health support but should include
peer support, coaching, mentoring and
kindness. All these would help women build
positive identities. They were activities that
should be integrated with mental health
services. 
Services should be trauma informed from
day one.

The key messages received by the Safer
Lincolnshire Partnership’s sub-group
working on the strategy were:

The women’s positive feedback about probation
had occurred when the women had worked with
a Lincolnshire Action Trust's women’s service.
This had reinforced the lessons of broader
research which had indicated that third sector
interventions were preferred to mainstream
service provision. 

1 2

P
age 30



S E R V I C E S  I N
L I N C O L N S H I R E

The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership is aware that
women-specific services found in other areas (even
those similar in geography and population) are
absent in Lincolnshire, to the detriment of women
and girls in the county. It has decided to find a way
forward by supporting community and other services
to build capacity in working with women and girls. 

1 3

P
age 31



It is for all women and girls. 
Women centred. 
Supported by a sustainable women’s centre service.
Focussed on early intervention. 
Accepting of the complexity of women’s needs.
Diversion away from the criminal justice system
should take place whenever possible.
A Whole System Approach.
Trauma informed practice.
Based on a Lincolnshire Concordat reflecting the
national Concordat on women in or at risk of contact
with the Criminal Justice System.

The strategic priorities that constitute this strategy
are:

The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership will also adopt the
National Probation Service Action Plan covering building
a whole system approach, reducing the use of prison
sentences under 12 months, and improving the journey
through the criminal justice system.

S T R A T E G I C  P R I O R I T I E S

1 4

P
age 32



S T R A T E G I C  P R I O R I T Y  1

The Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy is for all women and girls in Lincolnshire, not only those in the
criminal justice system. This is because many women in the criminal justice system have themselves
previously been victims of crime and continue to be at risk of male violence when they leave the system.
Those with mental ill health, personality disorder and learning disability may not have had access to
appropriately designed services. If those services had been in place for them, the path that led to their
entry into the criminal justice system could have been interrupted.

Many women in prison have been victims of much more serious offences than the ones they are accused
of, with research indicating that women’s exposure to physical, emotional and sexual abuse, including
coercive control, is for many a driver of their offending. A key difference between women and men in
prison is that family relationships tend to be a protective factor for men but, for women, relationships are
often a risk factor. Baroness Corston’s study of women in the criminal justice system 2007 found that
coercion by male partners and relatives is a distinct route into criminality and prison for some women.

The co-existence of victimisation and offending is now better recognised, but the links between them are
still not well understood by all agencies. There has been some progress both in tackling violence and
abuse against women and girls, and in the treatment of victims in the criminal justice system.
Improvements in the police response and in aspects of the court process should lead to benefits for
women offenders affected by domestic abuse, but challenges remain.

T H E  L I N C O L N S H I R E  W O M E N ’ S  S T R A T E G Y  I S  F O R
A L L  W O M E N  A N D  G I R L S

1 5

P
age 33



Gender informed - women-only, run by women for women.
Trauma informed (see Strategic Priority 8).
Delivered by voluntary sector organisations wherever possible.
Wrap around: accepting of the complexity of women’s needs and
providing support that extends to all aspects of the woman’s life and
with sufficient time to create trusting relationships.  This means
understanding the need for more than one service being required for
women, perhaps in conjunction with other services at the same time
or sequencing the services. This will often be helped by navigator
practitioners who are able to use appropriate psychological tools to
support the relationship.

Experience elsewhere has shown the importance of a women’s centre
service to provide a women and girl friendly space in which services can
be delivered.

The evidence from research considered by the Safer Lincolnshire
Partnership is that women at risk respond more effectively if services
are women centred – that is, services should be:

S T R A T E G I C  P R I O R I T Y  2

S E R V I C E S  U S E D  B Y  W O M E N  A N D
G I R L S  S H O U L D  B E  W O M E N  C E N T R E D

1 6

P
age 34



This should not be seen fundamentally as a charitable exercise: women’s centres work best when there
is buy-in from statutory agencies.
Effective women’s centres elsewhere have benefitted from statutory agencies’ applications for central
government tenders including women’s centres as part of a holistic approach. 
An effective women’s centre strategy would be about any women at risk – not just those in the criminal
justice system.
The aim should be to interrupt the pathways that are currently leading women and girls into the criminal
justice system by fixing issues that had prevented them from accessing services at earlier stages in their
lives.
Women’s voices should be used to shape the service. Where, for example, they have tried but failed to
access support.
A women’s centre would also have a role in the response to women post sentence, especially following
release from prison.

The evidence indicates that the existence of a women’s centre would support agencies’ achievement of the
other strategic priorities of the strategy, in particular, the creation of a supportive women only space as a
base for services. The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership has agreed:

The need for a women’s centre is especially apparent in preparation for women’s release from prison. It is
important to be informed in good time when a woman or girl with a Lincolnshire address is to be released
from custody in order to engage with them well in advance. This will enable appropriate responses to the
complexity of women’s lives, for experience the needs of their children. 

S T R A T E G I C  P R I O R I T Y  3

S E R V I C E S  F O R  W O M E N  A N D  G I R L S  S H O U L D  B E
S U P P O R T E D  B Y  A  S U S T A I N A B L E  W O M E N ’ S  C E N T R E

1 7

P
age 35



S T R A T E G I C  P R I O R I T Y  3

Lincolnshire is behind other areas in the
provision of women’s centre services. One
important consideration, therefore, is where
a Lincolnshire women’s centre project
should start. The Safer Lincolnshire
Partnership believes that it would be best to
start on a small scale at grass roots level by
helping existing generic services to grow
their capacity. 

The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership also
believes in the importance of sustainable
funding. The leaders of front-line
organisations are often preoccupied with
bidding for funding to the extent of being
drawn away from engagement with service
users. Sustainable funding is therefore a
key objective of the Lincolnshire Women’s
Strategy.

The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership has
adopted the following definition of a
woman’s centre: 

Women's Centres are independent specialist
community support services.They only serve
women, in recognition of the well-evidenced
need for gender-specific interventions. Centres
provide holistic, woman-centred, trauma-
informed services in safe, women-only spaces.
The aim is to help all women to gain the skills
and confidence to become more independent
and reach their full potential. Many provide
access to specialist advocacy, advice and
support on housing, substance misuse, mental
and physical health, employment, debt,
domestic abuse and family and parenting
issues. This can be through in-house specialist
staff and through partnerships with other
agencies.

1 8

P
age 36



The peak age for women offending is 15, in
stark contrast to men whose peak age is
23. This strongly suggests that providing
new services for girls experiencing or likely
to experience adverse childhood
experiences (ACE), or building capacity in
existing services, could have profound
benefits for girls and their families. It could
also interrupt pathways into the criminal
justice system at the earliest opportunity,
using services unconnected with the
criminal justice system: education, health,
and children services.

S T R A T E G I C  P R I O R I T Y  4

S E R V I C E S  S H O U L D  A D O P T  E A R L Y  I N T E R V E N T I O N  T O
P R E V E N T  I N V O L V E M E N T  I N  T H E  C R I M I N A L  J U S T I C E
S Y S T E M

1 9

P
age 37



Women and girls at risk of entering the
criminal justice system typically present with
complex needs. That is, they often have two
or more needs affecting their physical,
mental, social or financial wellbeing. Too
often women have been rejected by services
because their needs are complex. This
strategic priority means that Lincolnshire
services now agree to hold women service
users in engagement with services and to
respond holistically to their needs.

S E R V I C E S  S H O U L D  A C C E P T  W O M E N ’ S  A N D  G I R L S ’
C O M P L E X  N E E D S  A N D  N O T  U S E  C O M P L E X I T Y  A S  A
R E A S O N  T O  R E J E C T  T H E M

S T R A T E G I C  P R I O R I T Y  5
2 0

P
age 38



Criminal justice outcomes can be especially damaging for
women. Although women constitute less than 5% of people in
prison, they account for over 19% of self-harm incidents, an
indication of the traumatic impact of imprisonment on many.
Women entering prison are more likely to have been
imprisoned for non-violent offences. Women in prison are highly
likely to be victims as well as offenders. Over half the women in
prison report having suffered domestic violence with 53% of
women reporting having experienced emotional, physical or
sexual abuse as a child.  Women in prison are more than twice
as likely as men to say they have committed offences to
support someone else’s drug use as well as their own. Many
have histories indicative of brain injury and for most this is
caused by domestic violence. Many of women in prison have
dependent children – nationally, an estimated 17,000 children
are separated from their mothers by imprisonment every year.

S T R A T E G I C  P R I O R I T Y  6

S E R V I C E S  S H O U L D  C O M M I T  T O  D I V E R T I N G  W O M E N
A N D  G I R L S  F R O M  T H E  C R I M I N A L  J U S T I C E  S Y S T E M

2 1

P
age 39



Many women who are imprisoned receive short prison
sentences. These are highly damaging and do not allow for any
effective work. Around 77% receive sentences of under 12
months. HMP Peterborough (where Lincolnshire women first go
when remanded or sentenced to imprisonment) recently
reported that the average length of stay for a woman was 21
days. Such sentences do not allow sufficient time for any
rehabilitative work to be completed in custody. Access to
programmes and interventions are prioritised for those on
longer term sentences.

The Criminal Justice Liaison and Diversion service run by
Lincolnshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and
Lincolnshire Action Trust is in every Lincolnshire police custody
suite. It offers the opportunity of diverting vulnerable women
and girls away from the criminal justice centre at the earliest
stage. The problem is that there are so few appropriate services
and even fewer that provide the women centred care that the
Safer Lincolnshire Partnership regards as essential for
effectiveness.

It is for these reasons that the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership
will be renewing its efforts to keep women and girls out of
custody by diverting away from the criminal justice system
whenever possible.

S T R A T E G I C  P R I O R I T Y  6
2 2

P
age 40



The aim of a whole system approach is to assess
women’s needs at their first contact with the criminal
justice system, and to provide gender responsive,
multi-agency support throughout their justice journeys
or diversion from the criminal justice system. The
intention is to use existing resources differently to
target support more effectively, avoiding gaps or
duplication in service provision, and supporting
women to access provision. But the Lincolnshire
model in addition also involves all stakeholders
outside the criminal justice system working to ensure
their services stop women and girls entering the
criminal justice system or facilitating their exit from
the system.

The Lincolnshire whole system approach will divert
women away from the criminal justice system,
whenever possible. It means investment in upstream
services even though savings may take place
elsewhere. 

S T R A T E G I C  P R I O R I T Y  7

A  L I N C O L N S H I R E  W H O L E
S Y S T E M  A P P R O A C H

2 3

P
age 41



Understanding of trauma has increased significantly along with a growing recognition of
the role services can play in perpetuating trauma, inadvertently causing further harm to
some of the most vulnerable people they work with. Understanding the impact of trauma
on women is therefore vital for providing effective services.

The current understanding of the impact of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) on
women will also be taken into account by Lincolnshire services. These are the more
everyday traumas that can be overlooked (for example, parental divorce and parents
who abuse alcohol). Women who score four or more ACEs have significantly poorer
health outcomes in adult life. Women in prison frequently score four or more ACEs. This
reinforces the importance of health commissioners’ support for the Concordat (see
Strategic Priority 9).

Trauma-informed services create a culture of thoughtfulness and communication,
continuously doing their best to learn about, and adapt to, the different and changing
needs of the individuals they work with. In order to do this, it is crucial that services are
willing and able to engage with complexity. As a result, trauma-informed care is most
usefully defined in terms of ongoing processes, approaches and values, rather than fixed
procedures.
There are in addition various touch points prior to contact with the criminal justice
system, for example, GP surgeries, midwives, and dentists. All organisations likely to
come into contact with vulnerable women have a role to play in identifying concerns and
referring.

S T R A T E G I C  P R I O R I T Y  8

L I N C O L N S H I R E  T R A U M A  I N F O R M E D  S E R V I C E S

2 4

P
age 42



The national Concordat on women in or at risk of contact
with the Criminal Justice System sets out how
Government and other partners should work together to
identify and respond to the needs of women. The
Concordat aims to encourage partnerships at both the
national and local level. It is not intended to replace
current arrangements, where these are working well, but
rather to build on them to improve existing support to
women. Accordingly, the agreement in Lincolnshire is for
the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership, under the leadership
of the PCC, to drive forward the Lincolnshire Women’s
Strategy.

The Lincolnshire Concordat differs from the national
Concordat in one important respect. The latter only
considers the needs of adult women and does not
include the youth justice system unless explicitly stated.
The Lincolnshire Concordat, however, recognises that
peak offending for girls takes place at the early age of 15
and reflects concern that teenage girls’ mental health
and other needs should be addressed urgently.

S T R A T E G I C  P R I O R I T Y  9

L I N C O L N S H I R E  C O N C O R D A T

2 5

P
age 43



C O N C L U S I O N

By participating in the Concordat, Lincolnshire
agencies have agreed to work together to identify and
respond to the needs of women. This will mean
changes to agencies’ 2021-22 business plans and
strategic priorities in order to prevent women and girls
entering the criminal justice system by ensuring that
they have access to the services they need, at the
times in their lives when those services will have the
biggest impact and in ways that women themselves
have told us will make a difference.

2 6

P
age 44



P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

APPENDIX D 

 

 

 
 

Deepdale Lane, Nettleham, Lincoln  LN2 2LT  
Telephone (01522) 947192 Fax (01522) 558739 

E-Mail:  lincolnshire-pcc@lincs.pnn.police.uk   Website: www.lincolnshire-pcc.gov.uk 
 

 

 

Our Ref:  2021-1049 20210924 ET Robert Barlow re Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy 

By email to: 

Robert Barlow 

 

Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy: Supporting Women and Girls at Risk of Entering the Criminal Justice 

System  

 

Dear CX Barlow 

As your Police and Crime Commissioner and Co-Chair of the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership’s Overview and 

Scrutiny Board, I am delighted to introduce the new Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy and invite you to 

participate in the Lincolnshire Concordat. 

 

Background 

The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership has developed a new Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy to deliver the 

outcomes sought by the Ministry of Justice’s Female Offender Strategy 2018. 

The Ministry of Justice has led on a national Concordat on Women at risk of contact with the Criminal Justice 

System, which sets out how partners should work together at national and local levels to identify and respond 

to the needs of women. The national Concordat encourages partnerships at national and local level. It is not 

intended to replace current arrangements, where these are working well, but rather to build on them to 

improve existing support to women.  Accordingly, the agreement in Lincolnshire is for the Safer Lincolnshire 

Partnership, under my leadership, to drive forward the Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy to deliver better 

outcomes for women and girls. 

Partners involved in the work so far have agreed that we should have a Lincolnshire Concordat to drive 

delivery of the Lincolnshire Women’s strategy. 

 

The aim is for all services and agencies to unite to interrupt the pathways that currently lead women 

into the criminal justice system by delivering the services they need in ways they have told us works 

for them.  

 

Page 47

mailto:lincolnshire-pcc@lincs.pnn.police.uk
http://www.lincolnshire-pcc.gov.uk/
https://lincolnshire-pcc.gov.uk/transparency/lincolnshire-womens-strategy/
https://lincolnshire-pcc.gov.uk/transparency/lincolnshire-womens-strategy/lincolnshire-concordat/
https://lincolnshire-pcc.gov.uk/transparency/lincolnshire-womens-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/female-offender-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/concordat-on-women-in-or-at-risk-of-contact-with-the-criminal-justice-system
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/concordat-on-women-in-or-at-risk-of-contact-with-the-criminal-justice-system


2 
 

We know this because the Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy is based on what women, who had just left the 

criminal justice system, told us would have made a difference to their lives.  The women’s stories were 

incredibly hard to listen to because of the avoidable pain that they, their families, and their friends had 

experienced. But it is thanks to their bravery in sharing these stories - alongside research - that helped us to 

identify the key themes that should be applied by all services.   

 

The main themes: 

• Behaviours had been shaped by isolation, family problems, debt, addiction, and untreated mental ill-

health.  

• Their traumatic experiences in childhood had resulted in coping strategies associated with crime, with 

disastrous outcomes for themselves and others. 

• They experienced a lack of support, inadequate continuity of care and failure to adopt mental health 

and trauma informed approaches. 

• Fractured or lost family relationships had heightened their need for support. 

 

The key messages are: 

• The importance of support.   

The women told us that they had only received positive support within the criminal justice system 

itself – they had simply been ignored by existing services.  

• Support was vital. 

Support helped women build positive identities. This was not only mental health support, but also 

peer support, coaching, mentoring and kindness; activities which should be integrated within mental 

health services.  

• Services should be trauma informed from day one. 

• The importance of third sector interventions. 

The women’s experiences told us that third sector interventions were preferred to mainstream service 

provision - reinforcing the lessons of much broader research.  

 

Services in Lincolnshire 

The Safer Lincolnshire Partnership is aware that women-specific services found in other areas - even those 

similar in geography and population - are absent in Lincolnshire, to the detriment of women and girls in the 

county. I want us to build capacity in working with women and girls.  We must not let this needless suffering 

go on. 

A recent report by Lankelly Chase, “Gender Matters” identified four needs that most significantly 

disadvantaged women, namely: homelessness, substance misuse, poor mental health, and violence and 

abuse.  The report estimated that each year around 17,000 adults in England experienced all four of these 

needs, 70% of them women. Women who have had contact with the criminal justice system were much more 

likely to report experience of each of these primary needs than men - most notedly being the victims of 

violence and abuse.  It is wrong that women who have suffered such issues should end up in the criminal 

justice system, often for offences that were less serious than those for which they themselves had been 

victims. 

 

Page 48

https://lankellychase.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/Gender-Matters-full-report-Feb-2020.pdf


3 
 

The Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy also recognises the shocking fact that peak female offending is at the 

age of 15 (peak male offending is at 23) and reflects my concern that teenage girls’ mental health and other 

needs must be addressed urgently. 

 

The Lincolnshire Concordat  

I hope that you will be able to join with me in signing the Lincolnshire Concordat attached to your 

email.   

I must make clear that this is not a request for an empty gesture of support.  Commitment to the Lincolnshire 

Concordat will mean changes to our organisations’ business plans, strategic priorities, and budgetary 

allocations.  For commissioners, it will require close examination of service thresholds and access that 

currently exclude women and girls as exhibiting too much complexity and thereby leaving the criminal justice 

system to do too little too late. 

Please complete the Lincolnshire Concordat and return to me at lincolnshire-pcc@lincs.pnn.police.uk 

The Lincolnshire Concordat webpage, complete with all signatories can be found at https://lincolnshire-

pcc.gov.uk/transparency/lincolnshire-womens-strategy/lincolnshire-concordat  

 

Taking the work forward 

The delivery of the Lincolnshire Women’s Strategy is being led by SLP Reducing Offending Core Priority 

Group.  Any service lead or commissioner not already a member of the Core Priority Group is welcome to 

attend.  The national Concordat says, “We will produce a report a year after publication on how we have 

delivered on this commitment.” This means that we will have to report progress on delivery in December this 

year.  Your close personal involvement will be vital.  

Given the urgency, I should be grateful for a response to this letter by 19 October 2021.  And if it would 

be helpful for you to have support for any internal Board or other senior discussion then we should be 

pleased to provide this. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

Marc Jones 

Police and Crime Commissioner for Lincolnshire 

Page 49

mailto:lincolnshire-pcc@lincs.pnn.police.uk
https://lincolnshire-pcc.gov.uk/transparency/lincolnshire-womens-strategy/lincolnshire-concordat
https://lincolnshire-pcc.gov.uk/transparency/lincolnshire-womens-strategy/lincolnshire-concordat


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

L I N C O L N S H I R E C O N C O R D A T 
 
 
 

 

We commit to work together to improve outcomes for Lincolnshire women and girls at risk of 

entering or who have already entered the criminal justice sector. These women and girls, often 

with multiple and complex needs, include some of the most vulnerable in our county. We will 

work together to address their needs, preventing trauma from happening or promoting recovery if 

trauma has been experienced already. In so doing we will apply the principles of the Lincolnshire 

Women’s Strategy in the provision and commissioning of all services in Lincolnshire. We will 

make sure that all our services and partners, including the voluntary sector, work together to 

support women and girls. We will promote the delivery of the strategic priorities of the Ministry of 

Justice Female Offender Strategy, which should result in: 

 

fewer women coming into the criminal justice system. 

fewer women in custody (especially on short-term sentences) and a greater proportion of 

women supported in the community successfully. 

better conditions for those who are in custody. 
 

As part of our commitment we agree to report, when required by the signatories of the National 

Concordat and then on an annual basis, the steps we have taken and for that information to be 

available alongside the Lincolnshire Women's Strategy, which will be hosted on the Lincolnshire 

Police and Crime Commissioners website. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

N A M E    

O R G A N I S A T I O N    

S I G N A T U R E    

 
 

 

 

APPENDIX E

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL, CABINET 

DATE: 8TH DECEMBER 2021 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE:  

EMPOWERING HEALTHY COMMUNITIES: COUNCILLOR GRANT 

SCHEME UPDATE 

TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE ON PROGRESS OF THE COUNCILLOR 

GRANT SCHEME WHICH FORMS PART OF THE WIDER 

EMPOWERING HEALTHY COMMUNITIES PROGRAMME.  

KEY DECISION: N/A 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: CLLR MARTIN GRIGGS 

REPORT AUTHOR: NICHOLA HOLDERNESS, EMPOWERING HEALTHY COMMUNITIES 

CO-ORDINATOR 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: ALL 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

Forming part of the externally funded Empowering Health Communities (Community 

Champions) Programme, Cabinet agreed on 23rd June 2021 to deliver a Councillor Grants 

Scheme.  This scheme aimed to give support to community groups across the Board to support 

with health, wellbeing, resilience and Covid recovery.   

It was agreed a project update would be provided to Cabinet in December 2021 to enable 

members to monitor the progress of the scheme and agree any necessary changes to ensure 

continued success. 

A total of £48,000 was allocated to the Councillor grants scheme from the Empowering 

Communities Programme. Funding has been allocated on the basis of £1,000 Councillor Grant 

Scheme awarded to each Ward Member and £1,000 awarded to each Parish Council.   

The Councillor Grants Scheme is open to applications from eligible groups until 31st January 

2022 at this point the current scheme is closed and any applications after this date will be 

rejected. 

To date the Councillor Grant has supported 6 applications with £24,250 still to be allocated and 

the Parish Council Grant Scheme has supported 3 applications with £15,000 still to be allocated. 

 

Page 53

Agenda Item 4



 

2 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. It is recommended that Cabinet Members extend the application period for Councillor 

Grant Scheme and Parish Grant scheme until 31st March 2022. 

2. Agree further details to be bought to Cabinet on a Community Funding Scheme for any 

future underspend, within this scheme and the wider Empowering Healthy 

Communities Programme.  

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

Extending the application period will enable the Councillor Grant Scheme to support further 

applications.   

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

None 

 

1. Background 

 

1.1 Boston Borough Council is delivering a significant Health and Wellbeing Programme 

(Empowering Healthy Communities Programme) funded by DLUHP (formally MHCLG) 

Community Champions Programme. 

 

1.2 A total of £494,800 was received in January 2021, which has enabled a wide-ranging 

programme to be developed. 

 

1.3 This programme is to help local areas diversity, enhance and accelerate community 

engagement opportunities, to support communities identified as being disproportionately 

at risk from Covid-19. 

 

1.4 The national programme seeks to enable local areas to accelerate, enhance and target 

community engagement opportunities, to increase trust and confidence in public health 

messaging, improve engagement and take up of messaging and initiatives, to develop and 

build community insight and relationships and to develop a vital feedback mechanism to 

understand what works, what doesn’t and what can be done different at a local and 

national level.  

 

1.5 As part of the programme, a budget of £1,000 is available to each Boston Borough Council 

member and £1,000 to each Parish Council in Boston Borough to enable the delivery of a 

Councillor Grant Scheme. A summary of the funding allocations is set out in Table 1 below. 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



 

3 
 

 
 Table 1 – Summary of the Funding Allocations 

 
 

Project – Councillor Grant Scheme £ 

Councillor Grant Scheme  30,000 

Parish Scheme 18,000 

Total 48,000 

 

1.6 The scheme was agreed at Cabinet on 23rd June 2021. 

 

1.7 The Councillor Grant Scheme is open for applications until 31st January 2022. The policy, 

information guide and application form are set out as Appendix A and B to this report.  

 

2. Councillor Grant Scheme Overview 

 

2.1 Funded activities/projects within the programme should enable the overall programme to 

achieve the following outcomes: 

 

• Build Strong links between Government and places where COVID 19 has impacted 

mostly significantly to develop resilience and improve and increase mechanisms for 

outreach, communications, engagement within the area. 

 

• Increase understanding by local authorities of local population needs and provision of 

practical tools to aid accessibility to improve social connections, digital inclusion, civic 

engagement and integration with the wider local area. 

 

• Increase capability to interact with and communicate information and guidance from 

Government and local authorities that is accessible to diverse communities who may be 

harder to reach or receiving misinformation, facilitating the following of safer 

behaviours and making informed choices. 

 

• Build stronger relationships and engagement between communities, groups and local 

authorities where there may be tensions, mistrust or negative connotations 

exacerbated by the pandemic. 

 

• Increased access to guidance and awareness of Council and local support service 

through outreach and practical tools to improve access to economic support to alleviate 

hardship to support longer terms positive economic impacts. 

 

• Increased access to guidance, vaccination programmes ad public health services, 

through outreach and practical tools to improve health and wellbeing of residents, 

especially those from disproportionately impacted groups and their families.  

 

• Increased coordination and dialogue with public health providers by local authorities to 

create more cohesive and trusted messaging. 

 

Page 55



 

4 
 

• Build open, transparent dialogue over any local testing or vaccine deployment 

programmes within communities to address any misconceptions about efficacy and 

safety, counter misinformation, fill real knowledge voids and provide clarity on 

vaccination roll-out to build support and promote take up. 

 

• Increase visibility of Community Champions, volunteers and community groups to 

encourage more mutual aid and volunteer provision able to support local authority 

delivery. 

 

2.2 Information has been distributed throughout the Borough in various languages to advertise 

the scheme, including posts on a variety of Social Media pages.  Advertisement of each 

awarded scheme continues in the press and on Social Media.  

 

2.3  Table 2, below, sets out the current spend profile of the Councillor Grant Scheme.  

 
Table 2 – Current Spend Profile of the Councillor Grant Scheme 

 
 

Programme £ 

Total Funding 30,000 

Successful applications 5,750 

Remaining Funding 24,250 

  

 

3. Councillor Grant Scheme - Overview of successful applications  

 

3.1 The following section sets out an overview of the successful applications supported by the 

Councillor Grant Scheme. 

 

Project: Willoughby Road Allotments - £1,000 Awarded  

 

Overview 

After consultation with NHS workers who regularly walk through the allotment it was decided to 
create a peaceful and reflective space for Hospital staff, plot holders and public to sit and enjoy.  
The area was previously a derelict corner.  Tress and grass turf to be installed along with chairs, 
tables and a small pond area with solar water pumps.  An edible hedge will also be planted, which 
will attract wildlife. 

Progress to date 

Natures Happy Space (reflective area) officially opened on October 25 2021. 
 
Press release https://www.mybostonuk.com/1k-grant-creates-peaceful-and-reflective-outdoor-
space/ 

Programme contribution 

• Develop resilience and improve and increase communication and engagement. 

• Increase social connection, digital inclusion, engagement and integration with the local 
area. 

• Build stronger relationships and engagement between communities. 

 

 

Page 56

https://www.mybostonuk.com/1k-grant-creates-peaceful-and-reflective-outdoor-space/
https://www.mybostonuk.com/1k-grant-creates-peaceful-and-reflective-outdoor-space/


 

5 
 

Project: Boston Woods Trust - £1,000 Awarded  

 

Overview 

Design and print copies of Countryside for All leaflets for Fenside Woods and Sir Joseph Banks 
County Park, Wyberton.  These maps give important access information about sites and will be 
produced for distribution around the Borough.  There will also a digital version for include on the 
website.   
This funding will also design and produce welcome signs for the new Dions Wood Nature Reserve, 
including translation of the contact into several other languages.  
 

Progress to date 

All onsite mapping has now taken place, photos have been taken and wording prepared for the 
maps.  This information is now with the designer and printer and work is scheduled for January 
2022. 

Programme contribution 

• Develop resilience and improve and increase communication and engagement. 

• Increase social connection, digital inclusion, engagement and integration with the local 
area. 

• Build stronger relationships and engagement between communities. 

 

Project: The Local Community Centre - £1,928.07 Awarded  

 

Overview 

Provide funds for installation of a 50 litre mains cold feed water heater, in the store room next to 
the kitchen.  This will provide hot water to the sink in the kitchen for the community centre. 

Progress to date 

Installation of the Hot water heater is complete and the facility now has hot water directly to the 
kitchen sink.  

Programme contribution 

• Build stronger relationships and engagement between communities. 

 

 

 Project: Freiston Bowls Club - £250 Awarded  

 

Overview 

Design set up and embroider badges onto all members shirts. The badge will display the Freiston 
Village sign.  This project will enable the promotion of the bowls club within the village and 
further afield, hopefully encouraging people to take up the sport, become more active and 
encouraging socialisation when people may have been isolated during Covid.  

Progress to date 

Shirts will be printed ready for the start of the new season – April 2022. 

Programme contribution 

• Increase social connection, digital inclusion, engagement and integration with the local 
area. 

• Build stronger relationships and engagement between communities. 

 

 

 

  

 

Page 57



 

6 
 

Project: Boston Woods Trust - £1,000 Awarded  

 

Overview 

16,000 trees are due to be planted at the new Dion Woods site towards the end of 2021, this 
money will enable translation of information to encourage planting and volunteering within this 
site and other Boston Woods Trust sites.  The money will also be used for translation of social 
media messages to enable inclusion on a number of Facebook groups with information on all sites 
in Boston.   The money will also allow for printing and distribution of information material in 
several languages.  

Progress to date 

Preparation for information and translation for social media articles about each wildlife site 
around Boston is expected to begin soon.  The first site is likely to be Frampton RSPB.  
 
 
 

Programme contribution 

• Develop resilience and improve and increase communication and engagement. 

• Increase social connection, digital inclusion, engagement and integration with the local 
area. 

• Build stronger relationships and engagement between communities. 

 

Project: 10th Boston Scout Group (Leverton) - £500 Awarded  

 

Overview 

To purchase a kitchen mess tent.  This will be used at Cub, Scouts and Beaver camps improving 
access to facilities and events for local young people.  The tent can also be used for fundraising 
activities.  

Progress to date 

No update, funds released on 5th November.  

Programme contribution 

• Develop resilience and improve and increase communication and engagement 

• Increase access to guidance and awareness to local support services  

• Build stronger relationships and engagement between communities 

 

Therefore 80% of the original funding available to support the Councillor Grant Scheme remains 

unallocated at this stage.  

 

4. Parish Council Scheme Overview 

 

4.1  Table 3, below, sets out the current spend profile of the Parish Council Scheme.  

 
Table 3 – Current Spend Profile of the Parish Council Scheme 

 

Programme £ 

Total Funding 18,000 

Successful applications 3,000 

Remaining Funding 15,000 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



 

7 
 

4.2 Therefore 83% of the original funding available to support the Parish Council Scheme 

remains unallocated at this stage.  

 

4.3 Three further enquiries on whether projects would be suitable for the scheme have been 

received, however no further applications to date have been submitted.   

 

5. Parish Council Scheme - Overview of successful application 

 

5.1 The following section sets out an overview of the successful applications supported by the 

Parish Council Scheme. 

 

 

Project: Butterwick Parish Council - £1000 Awarded 

 

Overview 

Funds will provide food, access to community centre, entertainment, street decorations 
and any additional hygiene requirements for a Street Tea Party for Queen Elizabeth 
Platinum Jubilee Celebrations.  This event will allow members of the Butterwick 
community to come together after isolation and lockdowns to celebrate the Queens 
Platinum Jubilee  Parish Councillors will also be on hand to discuss what local support 
services are available and to develop community engagement and communities in a 
relaxed environment.  The event will be run, following all Covid guidelines that may be in 
place at the time.  
Programme contribution 

• Develop resilience and improve and increase communication and engagement 

• Increase access to guidance and awareness to local support services 

• Build Stronger relationships and engagement between communities  

 

 

Project: Leverton Parish Council - £1000 Awarded 

 

Overview 

Funds will allow for the repainting of the Church Hall externally and also the provision of a new 
Church Hall sign.  The project will preserve the exterior of the Church Hall and extend the 
longevity of the building.  The signage will be larger, brighter and more visible.  Preservation of 
the building will allow the continuation of community events such as fetes, coffee mornings, 
charity fundraising and community group meetings.  

Programme contribution 

• Develop resilience and improve and increase communication and engagement. 

• Increase access to guidance and awareness to local support services.  

• Build stronger relationships and engagement between communities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 59



 

8 
 

 

 

 Project: Wyberton Parish Council - £1000 Awarded 

 

Overview 

Funds will provide a 16+ page booklet, which will include contact details of helplines, community 
and volunteer groups, clubs and local social groups.  The booklet will be useful for all members of 
the community.  The Information booklet will be printed and delivered to all properties within the 
Parish of Wyberton. 

Programme contribution 

• Develop resilience and improve and increase communication and engagement. 

• Increase access to guidance and awareness to local support services.  

• Increase access to guidance, vaccination programme and public health services 

• Increase social connection, digital inclusion, engagement and integration with the local 
area. 

• Interact and communicate Health information in accessible formats to the community  

• Build stronger relationships and engagement between communities. 

• Increase access to guidance and awareness to Government Support for example 
Universal Credit, access to employment, education and/or volunteering opportunities.  

 

 

6. CONCLUSION 
 
6.1 The Councillor Grants Scheme presents a positive opportunity for Ward Members and 

Parish Councils to invest directly in their communities to respond to applications from local 
community groups based on need in the local area.    The scheme remains open to receive 
applications until 31st January 2022. 

 
 

IMPLICATIONS 
 
7. SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

7.1 The Empowering Healthy Communities Programme will give useful data and insight on 

projects that may be transferable to other Partnership areas. 

8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

8.1 Priority 1 – People Focused 

9. STAFFING 

9.1 None 

10. CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

10.1 No consultation required.  Update on the wider Empowering Healthy Communities 

Programme will be provided to members via a member briefing on 31, January 2022.  A 

further detailed update on the Councillor Grant Scheme will also be given at this meeting.  

 

 

Page 60



 

9 
 

11. DATA PROTECTION 

11.1 These are addressed through the policy and information guide and application form.  The 

Council’s Data Protection Officer has reviewed and shaped the policy and information 

guide.  

12. FINANCIAL 

12.1 The scheme is funded from the Empowering Healthy Communities (Community Champions) 
Programme.   

 
12.2 A summary of the funding allocations is set out in Table 3 below 
 

Table 3 – Summary of the Funding Allocations 
 

Project – Councillor Grant Scheme £ Spent 

Councillor Grant Scheme  30,000 5,750 

Parish Scheme 18,000 3,000 

Total 48,000 8,750 

 
 
13. RISK MANAGEMENT 

13.1 None. 

14. STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

14.1 Parish Council’s and Members as key stakeholders will be contacted by the Empowering 

Healthy Communities Coordinator to discuss the scheme.  

 

15. REPUTATION 

15.1 Reputational risk to Boston Borough Council if funds are not fully allocated by March 2022 

in line with the grant agreement between MHCLG and Boston Borough Council.  

15.2 It is therefore recommended that if additional applications are not forthcoming that the 

Cabinet considers the creation of a Community Funding platform to support community-

based funding raising initiatives and programmes as an alternative use for the remaining 

funding in this programme.  A further paper will be provided to the Cabinet if this 

recommendation is approved.   

16. CONTRACTS 

16.1 None 

17. CRIME AND DISORDER 

17.1 None 

18. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

18.1 The Councillor Grant scheme will enable support to be provided to community groups 

across the Borough to support communities with health, wellbeing, resilience and COVID 

Page 61



 

10 
 

recovery. The policy requires groups applying to the Scheme to have an open and inclusive 

membership policy. Due diligence checks will be made on all applications. 

19. HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

19.1 The Councillor Grant scheme will enable support to be provided to community groups 

across the Borough to support communities with health, wellbeing, resilience and COVID 

recovery. 

20. CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

20.1 None 

21. ACRONYMS 

21.1 The following have been used within this report and are explained below. 

• MHCLG – Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government 

• DLUHC – The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities  

 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A Councillor Grant Scheme Policy and 

Information Guide 

Appendix B Application Form 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

‘No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report.’   

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

Name of body Date 

Empowering Healthy Communities – 

Councillor Grant Scheme 

23rd June 2021 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Nichola Holderness 

Empowering Healthy Communities Coordinator 

Signed off by: Nathan Elvery Deputy Chief Executive – 

Communities and Strategic Advisor 

Approved for publication: Councillor Matrin Griggs – Portfolio Holder 

Page 62



 

11 
 

 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

      

      

Empowering Healthy Communities Programme: 
Councillor Grant Scheme and Information Guide 

Appendix A

Page 65



Page 66



EMPOWERING HEALTHY COMMUNITIES, 

COUNCILLOR GRANTS SCHEME  

  

 

Page | 1 
 

The Councillors’ Empowering Healthy 
Communities Grant Scheme provides grant 
funding to community projects run by not for 
profit voluntary and community organisations 
in Boston Borough.   The projects must support 
the delivery of the aims and objectives of the 
Empowering Healthy Communities programme. 
 
The programme aims to support a range of 
interventions to build upon, increase or 
improve existing activities to work with 
residents who are most at risk of Covid-19 – 
helping to build trust and empower at risk 
groups to protect themselves and their families.  
The broader aim is to reduce the impact of the 
virus on all communities, beyond just the target 
areas that we will work with through this 
scheme.  
 
Funded projects are expected to :- 
 

 Build residents confidence to integrate 
and engage more widely in their local 
communities and mix with people from 
different backgrounds. 

 Adopt approaches to engagement that 
supports social connection to the local 
area and builds confidence to use local 
amenities and services. 

 Provide practical solutions to overcome 
barriers, such as supporting those 
experiencing digital exclusion. 

 Be targeted using the best available 
national and local sources of evidence 
of need. 

 Exhibit good governance and the 
collection of robust evidence to enable 
measurements of progress in achieving 
the Programme aims. 

 
This guide provides details of what the scheme 
can fund, who is eligible to apply and any 
restrictions, the application process, the 
general terms and condition of funding and 
frequently asked questions.  It is important that 
all applicants read this guide before making an 
application.   

All applications must be made on the electronic 
application form.  It is important that each 
question is fully answered on the form.  Failure 
to do so may result in your application being 
delayed or rejected.  If you have any queries 
regarding this guide please contact: 
communitygrants@boston.gov.uk.  

1. Summary of the Scheme 
 
The Councillor’s Empowering Healthy 
Communities Grant Scheme is designed to be 
supportive, responsive and uncomplicated for 
organisations delivering community projects 
and activities to bid into. 
 
The scheme is intended to support smaller 
projects that are easily deliverable.  The key 
points of the Scheme are detailed below: 
 Your local Borough Councillor will decide 

whether to support or decline your request for 
funding. 

 You must contact your local Borough Councillor 
to discuss your project and to receive an 
application form. 

 Multiple Councillors can contribute to your 
project, joint applications must be submitted on 
the same application form. 

 Grants range from £100 to £1000 per project. 
 There is no limit on the number of grants an 

organisation can receive. 
 Match funding is not required but may be 

requested by the Councillor. 

 Completed applications must be received via 

email at communitygrants@boston.gov.uk by 
31st January 2022.  Applications received 
after this date will be rejected. 

 Applications received will be checked for 
compliance with the Scheme criteria - 
applications which do not comply with the 
criteria will be rejected. 

 Projects must be completed within 12 
months of the funding being awarded. 

 Both Revenue & Capital costs can be 
supported. 

 The Grants are paid in advance and usually 
within two weeks of being approved.  

Page 67

mailto:communitygrants@boston.gov.uk
mailto:communitygrants@boston.gov.uk


EMPOWERING HEALTHY COMMUNITIES, 

COUNCILLOR GRANTS SCHEME  

  

 

Page | 2 
 

2. Who can and cannot apply for a 
Councillors’ Community Grant? 
 
To apply for a grant your organisation must be 
some type of formally governed ‘Not for Profit’ 
organisation with a written governing 
document (e.g. Constitution, Trust Deed, 
Articles of Associate etc.).  The governing 
document must include a dissolution clause 
that guarantees any assets are kept for the 
community benefit even if the group comes to 
an end or is ‘dissolved’.  The governing 
document must also have an open membership 
policy (one that does not discriminate against 
potential members and actively encourages 
community participation and access with non-
prohibitive fees where applicable). 
 
The organisation must possess a UK based bank 
account registered in the name of the 
organisation and it must require a minimum of 
two unrelated persons not living at the same 
address to authorise withdrawals.  
 
Examples of eligible and ineligible organisations 
are listed in the table below.  
 

3. What the grants can and cannot 
fund 
 
Applications must demonstrate that they 
support one of the following: 
 
 Build strong links between Government 

and places where Covid-19 has impacted 
most significantly to develop resiliencies 
and improve and increase mechanisms for 
outreach, communication, engagement 
within the area. 
 

 Increased understanding by local 
authorities of local populations needs and 
provision of practical tools to aid 
accessibility to improve social connection, 
digital inclusion, civic engagement and 
integration with wider local area. 

 
 Increase capability to interact and 

communicate information and guidance 
from Government and local authorities 
that is accessible to diverse communities, 
who may be harder to reach or receiving 
misinformation, facilitating the following of 
safer behaviours and making of informed 
choices. 

 
 Build stronger relationships and 

engagement between communities, 
groups and local authorities where there 
may be tensions, mistrust or negative 
connotations exacerbated by the 
pandemic. 

 
 Increased access to guidance and 

awareness of Government support 
mechanisms, for example Universal Credit, 
to increase access to employment, 
education and/or volunteering 
opportunities. 

 
 
 
 

Eligible Ineligible 
Registered charities Individuals 
Constituted community and 
voluntary groups 

Private business/project 
making organisations 

Social enterprises Organisations that can 
distribute surpluses/profits 
among its members 

Parochial church councils Informal groups* 
Town and parish councils – 
due to being a tier of local 
Government they are not 
required to  complete Q6 

Political groups 

Not for profit companies Statutory organisations 
Schools – whilst schools can 
apply into the scheme the 
project must be able to 
provide a wider community 
benefit and not solely 
benefit the pupils or the 
school. 

 

*Eligible groups can act as an accountable body for 
informal groups that wish to undertake projects with 
community benefit.  Further information can be found in the FAQ 
of this guide.  

Page 68



EMPOWERING HEALTHY COMMUNITIES, 

COUNCILLOR GRANTS SCHEME  

  

 

Page | 3 
 

 

 Increased access to guidance and 
awareness of Council and local support 
services through outreach and practical 
tools to improve access to economic 
support and alleviate hardship to support 
longer term positive economic impacts. 

 

 Increased access to guidance, vaccination 
programmes and public health services, 
through outreach and practical tools to 
improve health and wellbeing of residents, 
especially those from disproportionately 
impacted groups, and their families. 
 

 Increased coordination and dialogue with 
public health providers by local authorities 
to create more cohesive and trusted 
messaging.  
 

 Build open, transparent dialogue over any 
local testing or vaccine deployment 
programmes within communities to 
address any misconceptions about 
efficiency and safety, counter 
misinformation, fill real knowledge voids 
and provide clarity on vaccination roll-out 
to build support and promote take up. 

 
 Increased visibility of Community 

Champions, volunteers and community 
groups to encourage more mutual aid and 
volunteer provision able to support local 
authority delivery. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4. Application Process 
 
 Contact your Borough Councillor to discuss 

your project proposal (Councillor details 
can be found  at www. 
moderngov.boston.gov.uk/) 

 If the Councillor is supportive of the project 
idea they will email you an electronic 
application form 

 Complete the application form and email it 
back to your Councillor 

 The Councillor reviews your application and 
decides whether to support or decline the 
funding request. 

 The Councillor completes the Councillor’s 
declaration section of the application form 
and submits the completed application to 
the Council 

 The Council will undertake standard 
verification checks to ensure the 
application complies with the policy.  If 
your application is ineligible you and the 
Councillor will receive confirmation of this. 

 If the application is eligible you receive a 
‘grant confirmation letter’. 

 Your grant is paid directly into your 
nominated bank account within 2 weeks 
and you receive a remittance advice. 

 You deliver the project and advise your 
awarding Councillor when the project is 
completed or if you experience any 
difficulties in delivering the project. 

 
Boston Borough Council may request 
supplementary information to check that your 
application meets the eligibility criteria.  
 
The Chief Executive retains the right to reject 
any applications for funding which are not 
considered to fall within the permitted 
activities or intended spirit of the scheme.  The 
Chief Executive’s decision will be final. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69



EMPOWERING HEALTHY COMMUNITIES, 

COUNCILLOR GRANTS SCHEME  

  

 

Page | 4 
 

5. General Terms and Conditions of 
Councillors’ Empowering Health 
Communities Grant Funding 
 
The general terms and conditions of 
Councillors’ Empowering Healthy Communities 
Grant funding are detailed below. 
 
1. No grant shall be used on expenditure 

made prior to the date of the grant 
confirmation letter with the exception of 
community resilience projects that address 
issues caused by COVID-19 which may be 
retrospectively funded if there is a 
demonstrable requirement for this. 

2. The project must be complete within 12 
months of receiving the grant funds.  Any 
delays to the project must be notified to 
the awarding Borough Councillor. 

3. You must use the grant exclusively for the 
project. 

4. You must get our written permission before 
making any significant changes to the 
project. 

5. You must advise the awarding Councillor 
when your project is completed. 

6. Should the project not progress the grant 
must be returned. 

7. Should project costs be less than the grant 
awarded, the remainder of the grant must 
be returned. 

8. Records must be kept of all expenditure (all 
involves, receipt and other relevant 
documents) relating to the project for three 
years and must be available for inspection 
at any reasonable time. 

9. You must provide us promptly with any 
information we request prior to or post 
grant award in relation to compliance with 
these terms and conditions and the criteria 
as detailed in the Councillors’ Empowering 
Healthy Communities Grant Scheme Policy 
and Information Guide.  

10. You must provide us promptly with any 
information and reports we require about 
the project and its impact both during and 
after the end of the project 

 
11. If it is proposed that any goods, equipment 

or land/buildings purchased or improved 
with grant aid are to be disposed of then 
written details of the proposed disposal 
should be sent to Boston Borough Council 
at communitygrants@boston.gov.uk. 
Boston Borough Council has the right to 
return all or part of the grant upon any 
such disposal. 

12. The grant will not be increased if there is 
any overspend on the project and you will 
be responsible for any excess sums 
required over the amount of the grant 
awarded. 

13. You must comply with all relevant statutes 
and other laws and regulations relating to 
the project, the work you, your employees, 
staff or member of the public connected to 
you carry out or the goods you purchase.  

14. You must ensure that the necessary 
permissions are in place for the projects to 
proceed. 

15. You must notify us of any legal claims made 
against you (including any claims made 
against members of your governing body or 
staff in connection with the organisation) 
during the period of the grant. 

16. You must notify us as soon as possible of 
any investigation concerning your 
organisation, trustees, directors, employees 
or volunteers carried out by the Police, 
Charity Commission, HM Revenue & 
Customs or any other regulatory body 
during the period of the grant.  

17. The grant and related expenditure must be 
shown as a restricted funding for your 
organisation annual accounts. Where you 
have more than one restricted fund, there 
must be a note on the accounts to identify 
each restricted fund separately.  Unspent 
funds and/or assets in respect of all grants 
must be identified separately in your 
accounting records.  

 
 
 
 

Page 70

mailto:communitygrants@boston.gov.uk


EMPOWERING HEALTHY COMMUNITIES, 

COUNCILLOR GRANTS SCHEME  

  

 

Page | 5 
 

 
18. Our staff, council members and advisers 

cannot give you professional advice and will 
not take part in carrying out your business.  
We cannot be held responsible for any 
actions you take, any action you fail to take, 
or for your debts or liabilities.  Even though 
we may give you funding and talk to you 
about your activities, you are still fully 
responsible for every part of the project, 
your business and the decision about it. 

19. Details of the grant awarded will be 
published on the Council’s website in line 
with the Government’s transparency 
requirements. 

20. You understand that we will be publicising 
projects and this may include your name 
and images of project activities.  You 
hereby grant us a royalty free licence to 
reproduce and publish any project 
information you give us.  You will let us 
know when you provide the information if 
you don’t have permission for us to use it in 
this way.  

21. Empowering Healthy Communities 
Programme must be acknowledged in any 
publicity associated with a Councillors 
Grant Scheme funded project and where 
using Boston Borough Council branding this 
must be in accordance with the relevant 
brand guidelines.   

22. The Freedom of Information Act 2000 (‘the 
Act’) applies to us.  This means that any 
information you give us could be released 
to any person who asks for it under the Act.  

23. Where your project involves working with 
children, young people or vulnerable 
adults, you must adopt and implement an 
appropriate written safeguarding policy, 
obtain written consent from legal carers or 
guardians and carry out background checks 
for all employees, volunteers, trustees or 
contractors as required by law or 
guidelines.  We may ask for a copy of your 
safeguarding arrangements.  

 

 
24. These terms and conditions will continue to 
apply for one year after the grant is paid or 
until the project has been completed whichever 
is later.  Clauses 8, 19, 20 AND 21 shall survive 
expiry of these terms and conditions.  

6. Frequently asked questions 
 
Q. We are an informal group wishing to deliver 
a community project and don’t have a 
governing document and/or bank account.  
How can we benefit from this scheme? 
 
A. There are a couple of ways in which you 
could benefit from the scheme.  Firstly you 
could decide to formalise the group by 
adopting a governing document and opening a 
bank account in the group’s name with two 
signatories required to withdraw funds.  
Alternatively we will allow another eligible 
group to act as an accountable body for the 
grant.  In this case the accountable body must 
complete and submit the grant application as it 
becomes legally accountable for the grant.  You 
will therefore need to discuss your project with 
the accountable body to gain their support and 
work with them to complete the application 
form and delivery of the project.  Please note 
we will not accept applications from informal 
groups.  
 
Q. Can I apply for a second Councillors’ 
Empowering Healthy Communities Grant for 
the same project/activity? 
 
A. No, you can only receive one grant for the 
same project. 
 
Q. Can I submit multiple Councillors’ 
Community Grant applications for the same 
project at the same time? 
 
A. No – if multiple Councillors wish to support 
your project they must all complete one 
application form.  We will not accept any 
subsequent applications for the same project 
even if submitted together.  

Page 71



EMPOWERING HEALTHY COMMUNITIES, 

COUNCILLOR GRANTS SCHEME  

  

 

Page | 6 
 

Q. What if my Councillor is unable to or 
decided not to award funding to our project 
even though we are eligible for support? 
 
A. If you Councillor is unable to, or declines to 
fund your project you have the following 
options available to you: 

1. Apply to another local Borough Councillor 
in your area for support. 
2. Contact Lincolnshire CVS (01205 510888) 
for advice on alternative funding 
opportunities. 

 
Q. What if our project is delayed and we 
cannot complete it within the 12 month 
timetable? 
 
A. You should inform your Councillor as soon as 
you become aware that a deadline may be 
missed.  Because we understand that projects 
do not always go according to plan and often 
are delayed by factors outside your control 
‘project extensions’ are usually granted.  
However, if the project has not been started 
and is seriously behind because of 
mismanagement or negligence on your behalf 
we may request that the grant funds are 
repaid.  
 
Q. We need support in developing our project 
and/or organisation before we apply for grant 
funds, who can help? 
 
A. Lincolnshire CVS is a local registered charity 
that provides support and advice to the 
Community and Voluntary Sector.  They will be 
able to provide support and guidance for your 
organisations around a variety of topics from: 

 Governance advice  
 Funding options and bid writing 
 Volunteer recruitment 
 Training 

 
 

 

 

Page 72



Page 1 of 8

Councillors’ Empowering 
Healthy Communities 

Councillor  Grants Application Form

1 Organisation name

2 Contact name

3 Position held in the organisation

4 Contact details

Address (including postcode):

Telephone:

Email:

About your organisation

5 Which of the below categories does your organisation fall in to?

Not for Profit Company Limited by Guarantee ......................................................................................................

Constituted Community/Voluntary Group ..............................................................................................................

Parish or Town Council.....................................................................................................................................................

Parochial Church Council ................................................................................................................................................

Registered Charity .............................................................................................................................................................

Social Enterprise .................................................................................................................................................................

Other (please provide details):

Please ensure you complete this form fully before submission.  
An incomplete form may delay the processing of the application.

Applications must be received by 31st January 2022

Appendix B

Page 73



Page 2 of 8

Name on bank account:

Bank Sort Code: Bank Account Number:

Building Society Roll Number (where applicable):

7 Your organisation’s bank/building society account details

9 Please provide a ‘Project Name’ for your application

About your project

10 Where will your project take place?

11 When will your project take place?

Start date: 

Completion date (must be within 12 months of receiving the grant): 

I confirm that the organisation is not for profit and has a formal governing 
document which includes: (Please note Town/Parish Councils do not need to complete question 6.)

 � a ‘dissolution’ clause that guarantees any assets are kept for community 

benefit even if the group comes to an end or is ‘dissolved’ ...................................Yes         No 

 � an open membership policy ..............................................................................................Yes         No 

6

I confirm that a minimum of two unconnected persons must sign to authorise all 
withdrawals (including cheques and online transactions)  

..................................................................................................................................................................Yes          No 

8

Page 74



Page 3 of 8

14 What will you spend the grant on?

12 How much will the project cost?

13 How much funding are you requesting? (Minimum £100 - Maximum £1,000) 

Page 75



Page 4 of 8

17 Which of the following aims will your project contribute towards?

Tick all that apply – your project must support one of the following.
�Develop resilience and improve and increase communication and engagement
�Increase access to guidance and awareness to local support services
�Increase access to guidance, vaccination programmes and public health services
�Build open, transparent dialogue over any local testing or vaccine programme
�Increase social connection, digital inclusion, engagement and integration with the local area 
�Interact and communicate Health information in accessible formats to the community
�Build stronger relationships and engagement between communities
�Increase access to guidance and awareness to Government Support for example Universal

Credit, access to employment, education and/or volunteering opportunities

15 What benefits will the project deliver to the local community?

16 How many people will benefit from your project?

Page 76



Page 5 of 8

18 Applicant declaration

I confirm that the information contained within this application is accurate and
truthful to the best of my knowledge ........................................................................................Yes          No

I confirm that I have read the Councillors’ Empowering Healthy Communities Grant Scheme Policy
and Information Guide, and understand and agree to the ‘General Terms
and Conditions’ of the funding .....................................................................................................Yes          No

I confirm that I have the authority of the named organisation to submit this
grant application ................................................................................................................................Yes          No

I confirm that the project will not be commenced or costs incurred before
I receive a grant confirmation letter ..........................................................................................Yes          No

Please note that community resilience projects that address issues caused by COVID-19 may commence prior to the 
receipt of a confirmation letter and may be retrospectively funded if there is demonstrable requirement for this.

I agree to keep the Councillor funding this project informed of progress and
will provide confirmation to the Councillor when the project is completed ..............Yes          No

I acknowledge that Boston Borough Council may publicise the award
of this grant in local media and agree to be contacted if additional
information is required ....................................................................................................................Yes          No

I confirm that the organisation has compiled annual accounts within the
last twelve months or is newly formed and will compile annual accounts
at the end of its first financial year ...........................................................................................Yes          No

I confirm that the organisation has sufficient funds available to meet
 immediate debts and liabilities ...................................................................................................Yes          No

I confirm that the organisation has no overdue accounts or payments
due to Boston Borough Council ....... ...........................................................................................Yes          No

Applicant Declaration

19 Data Protection Consent
I understand that to engage in this programme Boston Borough Council, its Councillors and its processor
PSPSL (privacy statement can be found at www.pspsl.co.uk/privacy) will need to share the supplied contact
information. This information will also be shared with MHCLG (www.delta.communities.gov.uk/privacy-
policy) as grant provider. I have the authority to provide the given contact details

Name/Signature:

Date:

Page 77



Page 6 of 8

Data Protection Notice

Boston Borough Council is a Data Controller and can be contacted at Municipal Buildings, West Street, 
Boston, Lincolnshire, PE21 8QR (Tel: 01205 314200).  The Data Protection Officer can be contacted at 
the same address.

We are collecting your personal data (name and contact details) in order to administer your application 
for a Councillors’ Empowering Healthy Communities Grant for the group that you represent.

Your data will be shared with Borough Councillors supporting your application, Public Sector Partnership 
Services (the Council’s Data Processor) for the processing of the grant application and may also be
used for Council purposes, in order to prevent or detect crime, to protect public funds or where we are 
required or permitted to share data under other legislation.

In line with our retention policy your data will be kept for 6 years after the financial year in which the 
last activity in respect of the grant is processed or if the grant application is unsuccessful your data will 
be kept for 6 months after the financial year in which the application was made.

You have the right to access your data and to rectify mistakes, erase, restrict, object or move your data
in certain circumstances.  Please contact the Data Protection Officer for further information or go to
our website where your rights are explained in more detail.  

Any complaints regarding your data should be addressed to the Data Protection Officer in the first 
instance.  If the matter is not resolved you can contact the Information Commissioner’s Office at 
Wycliffe House, Water Lane, Wilmslow, Cheshire, SK9 5AF (Tel: 0303 123 1113)

If you do not provide the information required on the form then we will not be able to process your 
application for a grant as we need your contact details in order to do this.

For further information on our Data Protection Policies please go to our website.

Data Protection

Page 78



Page 7 of 8

Councillor’s Award & Declarations 
To be completed by the Councillor(s) awarding funding to the project.  All 
Councillor(s) wishing to contribute to the project must complete the section 
below. Subsequent applications for the same project will not be accepted.

Before awarding funding the Councillor should satisfy themselves that the:

 � Applicant organisation is eligible to apply for funding under the Councillors’ Community Grant Scheme.

 � Proposed project is eligible for support under the Councillors’ Community Grant Scheme and the project 
will benefit the residents of their ward.

 � Applicant organisation has not already incurred the expenditure/costs associated with this project.

 � Proposed project and funding award provides value for money.

Please note that community resilience projects that address issues caused by COVID-19 may commence prior to the 
receipt of a confirmation letter and may be retrospectively funded if there is demonstrable requirement for this. 

If a Councillor has any interest in the project or organisation concerned, this should be declared in the table 
below, the grant will be awarded at the discretion of the Chief Executive.

Councillor Name 
Declaration of Interest 

(if none, state none)
Amount 
Awarded 

Date

1 £

2 £

3 £

Chief Executive Approval
The Chief Executive retains the right to reject any applications for funding which are not considered to 
fall within the permitted activities or ‘intended spirit’ of the scheme. In the event of there being differing 
interpretations or application of policy regarding a particular award, the Chief Executive’s decision will be final.

Page 79



Page 8 of 8 Page 80



 

 
 

 

REPORT TO: Cabinet  

DATE: 8 December 2021 

SUBJECT: 

 

 

PURPOSE:  

Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2022/23 

 

 

To determine the Council Tax Support Scheme for 2022/23 

KEY DECISION: N/A 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Jonathan Noble, Portfolio Holder for Finance 

REPORT OF: 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director - Finance 

Sharon Hammond, Head of Revenues and Benefits 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: All 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

This report seeks Cabinet decision on the final proposals for the 2022/23 Local Council Tax 

Support scheme, to be presented to Council for approval on 17 January 2022. 

The Local Government Finance Act 2012 introduced the framework for localism of Council Tax 

Support. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. That Cabinet approves and recommends to Council: - 

 

a) Continuation of the current Council Tax Support scheme, including uprating in line 

with DWP’s annual update of allowances and premiums for 2022/23, and 

b) Introduction of a link to the award of Universal Credit, removing the need for 

customers to make a separate application for Council Tax Support, and 

c) The introduction of a provision in the scheme for discretion to disregard national 

schemes introduced during a financial year in the calculation of Council Tax Support. 

 
2. That Cabinet delegate approval for the 2022/23 final scheme policy to the Section 151 

Officer in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance, including administrative and 

minor changes. 

Page 81

Agenda Item 5



 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

This Council must make any revision to its scheme, or any replacement, and agree its final 

scheme no later than 11 March 2022 in respect of the 2022/23 financial year. 

Retention of the current scheme will provide continuity for customers in terms of the level of 

support provided, and it will maintain scheme expenditure at an affordable level.   

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

No change.  Continuation of the current scheme into 2022/23, but not uprated in line with DWP 

updating of allowances and premiums.  

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 The Council Tax Support (CTS) scheme provides reductions in Council Tax to give financial 
assistance to people on low incomes.  Each year the Council is required to consider whether 
to review its CTS scheme. This report advises Cabinet about the conclusion of the annual 
review and the results of consultation on the proposals for the 2022/23 scheme.  
 

1.2 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 sets out the process by which Councils must 
approve a local Council Tax Support scheme. Regulations include protection for pensioners 
but allow Councils to make changes in the way that support is calculated for working age 
claimants.  
 

1.3 Where Councils seek to amend their scheme, it is necessary to consult major preceptors 
and stakeholders to inform a final scheme design.  
 

1.4 Local CTS schemes replaced the former national Council Tax Benefit (CTB) scheme from 
April 2013. The scheme for pensioners continues to be prescribed by government and 
allows up to 100% support against Council Tax liability.  
 

1.5 The scheme for Working Age claimants is determined locally. The Government set out its 
expectations for local authorities to protect the vulnerable and for schemes to support 
incentives to work.   

 

1.6 Boston Borough Council has retained a Council Tax Support Scheme since April 2013 that 
requires all working age households to pay at least 25% of their Council Tax liability. The 
Council’s local scheme applies a number of principles: -   
 

• Protecting the most vulnerable – pension-age and war pensioners  

• Continuation of a means-testing approach, based on the previous CTB rules as far as 
possible  

• The scheme will be reviewed annually  

• Protecting war pensioners from reductions in support  
 

Page 82



1.7 From April 2021, it was agreed that claims in respect of working age applicants who are 
working and in receipt of Universal Credit would be reassessed every 3 months, thereby 
reducing the frequency of Council Tax bills and re-profiling of instalments. 
 

 
2. CURRENT SCHEME FIGURES  

 

2.1 At 31 March 2021, the CTS caseload and spend was as follows – 
 

 Number Percentage of Total CTS expenditure 

Working Age 2,340 51.55% 1,659,259 

Pensioners 2,199 48.45% 2,161,590 

Total @ 31/03/21 4,539 100% 3,820,849 

 
2.2  Despite a reduction in total caseload compared to 31 March 2020, the outturn position for 

scheme expenditure in 2020/21 was a 0.33% increase when compared to 2019/20. This is 
primarily due to the increase in council tax, including charge for Adult Social Care.  
 

2.3 At 31 August 2021, caseload and expenditure for 2021/22 was as follows –  
 

 Number Percentage of Total CTS expenditure 

Working Age 2,287 51.45% 1,713,155 

Pensioners 2,158 48.55% 2,123,384 

Total 4,445 100% 3,836,539 

 
This will continue to fluctuate, and final expenditure will not be determined until 31 March 
2022. The cost of the scheme is borne by major preceptors (LCC, LPCC & BBC) in proportion 
to their precepts. The cost to the Borough Council is approximately £422k (11%). 

 

3 2022/23 SCHEME CONSULTATION 
 

3.1 Consultation for the 2022/23 scheme proposals, as agreed with the Portfolio Holder for 
Finance,  sought views on: - 
i) Retaining the current scheme, and 

ii) Udating in line with the Department for Work and Pensions uprating provisions for 
2022/23 and future years.  

 
3.2 The consultation took place between 10 September 2021 and 12 November 2021. 

 
3.3 Major precepting authorities have been consulted on the proposals. 

Lincolnshire County Council has responded to the consultation confirming it has no 

comments or objections to the proposals. 

The Police and Crime Commissioner has noted the proposal to retain the current scheme, 

aligned to the DWP uprating.  

 
3.4 The Corporate and Community Committee received a report at its meeting on 4 November 

2021 inviting review of the current scheme operation, and consideration of the proposals 
for 2022/23.  The Committee resolved to recommend to Cabinet that the current scheme is 

Page 83



retained for 2022/23, uprated in line with DWP.  A copy of the minute is attached at 
Appendix A. 

 
3.5 The wider public and stakeholder consultation was published by media release and on the 

Council’s website and social media sites. The questionnaire was made available on the 

website, and paper copies were available on request.  

3.6 A total of 30 responses have been received.  With such a low response rate it has to be 
recognised that the results cannot be relied upon as being wholly representative or 
statistically significant. 
 

3.7 High level findings of responses to date are summarised: - 
 

• The majority of respondents, (66%), agreed that the council should retain the current 
scheme for the next financial year. 

• 79% of respondents agreed we should increase the scheme in line with DWP uprating 
provisions for 2022/23 and future years. 

 
3.8 The full consultation report is shown at Appendix B. 

 
4.  PROPOSED SCHEME ADMINISTRATION CHANGES 

 

4.1  Link CTS with the award of Universal Credit (UC) 

Most new claims for CTS are now received from claimants who have applied for UC. 

Applications for UC are made to the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP), whilst 

applications for CTS need to be made to the local authority.   

4.2 This means that the claimant must deal with two organisations and make separate 

applications to get the help they need.   

4.3 Linking CTS with the award of UC would remove the current requirement for the customer 
to make a separate application for CTS.    In turn this will make it simpler and more timely 
for customers to access CTS, preventing delay and potential loss in support (under the 
scheme rules, if an application is made late it can only be backdated for 1 month). 

 
4.4 It is recommended that from 2022/23 an administrative change is made to the scheme to 

enable a UCDS new claim notice from the DWP to be treated as a CTS application, thereby 
simplifying the process for the claimant. 

 

5.  CONCLUSION 
 

5.1 The recommendations made to retain the current scheme for 2022/23 along with uprating 
and harmonisation with DWP annual update of allowances and premiums will continue to 
align the CTS scheme for working age customers with DWP provisions for Housing Benefit 
and the CTS scheme for pensioners. This has been consistent each year since the 
introduction of local Council Tax Support schemes. 

 
This is supported by the feedback obtained through the consultation exercise.  This will 
provide consistency for claimants, and there will be no new additional impacts on current 
levels of expenditure as a result of the recommendations. 
 Page 84



5.2 Linking CTS with the UCDS notice and award will help to simplify the application process for 
customers, helping them to get the support they need, when they need it.   

 
5.3 Council Tax Support schemes cannot be changed in-year, and as such, under the current 

scheme, national initiatives introduced by government to support individuals and 
households through the covid pandemic, are treated as additional income, which can have  
the effect of reducing the level of CTS awarded.   
 
It is therefore recommended that the CTS scheme is updated to provide discretion to 
consider disregarding national initiatives that are introduced in a financial year, with any 
decision first being subject to CTS administration and system capability assessment. 
 
There will be no financial impact for the council or the major precepting authorities to the 
overall cost of the scheme however it could have a positive impact on the customer as any 
additional income could be disregarded in the calculation of CTS.    
Future year schemes could be updated, if appropriate, to include any additional support 
initiatives in the calculation of CTS schemes. 

 
 

EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

N/A 
 
 

IMPLICATIONS 
 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL’S PARTNERSHIP 

None 

 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

None 

 

STAFFING 

None 

 

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

The Local Government Finance Act 2012 introduced the framework for localism of Council Tax 

Support. The Council Tax reduction scheme regulations 2013 requires that councils review local 

schemes on an annual basis. 

The local CTS scheme must be approved by Full Council by 11 March 2022. Any change to CTS 

schemes must be subject to proper process, including consultation in order to protect the scheme 

from judicial review. 

Page 85



 

DATA PROTECTION 

None 

 

FINANCIAL 

The actual financial impact of any scheme will be subject to the normal fluctuations in demand as 
determined by various factors including economics, needs and demographics as well as overall 
council tax base which are part of the normal MTFS and consultation process to be undertaken. 
 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 

None 

 
STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

The Section 151 Officer and Portfolio Holder for Finance have been consulted. 

Legislation requires consultation to be carried out with major precepting authorities, the public 

and other stakeholders where changes to the scheme are proposed.  Consultation has been carried 

out, as detailed in Section 3 of this report.  

 

REPUTATION 

None 

 

CONTRACTS 

None 

 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

None 

 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

None 

 

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

None 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

Page 86



None 

 

ACRONYMS 

CTB – Council Tax Benefit 

CTS – Council Tax Support 

DWP – Department for Work and Pensions 

LCC – Lincolnshire County Council 

LPCC – Lincolnshire Police and Crime Commissioner 

UC – Universal Credit 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Minute from Corporate and Community Committee 

APPENDIX B Consultation Report 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report.   

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Sharon Hammond 

Head of Revenues and Benefits 

Sharon.hammond@pspsl.co.uk  

Signed off by: Samantha Knowles 

Assistant Director – Finance 

sknowles@sholland.gov.uk 

Approved for publication: Councillor Jonathan Noble, Portfolio Holder for 

Finance 

 

 

Page 87

mailto:Sharon.hammond@pspsl.co.uk
mailto:sknowles@sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



LOCAL COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2022/23

The Head of Revenues and Benefits presented a report on the review of the Council 
Tax Support (CTS) scheme with proposals for the next financial year 2022/23.

The Committee was asked to review the scheme to date and the proposals for the 
2022/23 scheme as part of the ongoing consultation and make recommendations on 
the proposals for Cabinet consideration on 8th December.  The proposed 2022/23 
scheme would be submitted to Full Council for formal approval by Full Council in 
January 2022.   

The report contained details of the operation of the previous Council Tax Benefit 
scheme for comparison purposes.  It also contained the projected costs of the 
scheme.  However, it was pointed out that the level of CTS always fluctuated 
throughout the year and the exact expenditure would only be known at the end of the 
financial year.  The costs of the CTS scheme were borne by the major precepting 
authorities, 11% of which was borne by the Council.  

Members were reminded that the CTS scheme related purely to working age people, 
as the scheme for pensioners continued to be prescribed by Government and they 
received 100%.  The Council had taken the local decision to protect war pensioners 
and this had continued since the scheme’s introduction.  The scheme continued to 
be means-tested in the same way as the previous benefit scheme.  Entitlement for 
working age claimants was capped at 75%; therefore, they had to pay at least 25% 
of their council tax.  

CTS was linked to claims for Universal Credit (UC) and the decision had been taken 
to uprate CTS in line with the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP).  

Previously, CTS claims had to be reassessed every time there was a change to UC.  
However, in 2021/22 a decision had been taken to make a change to the scheme so 
that any UC changes would only be reassessed every three months, though this 
could be overridden if necessary.  This provided stability in terms of CTS awards and 
was working well.  

The DWP had not published its plans yet for completing the full migration to UC for 
working age claimants and the timescale therefore remained uncertain, but it was 
now apparent that it would not be complete until 2025.  The numbers claiming UC 
had significantly increased, particularly since the start of the Covid-19 pandemic.  

In considering the options for the 2022/23 CTS scheme, given the ongoing 
uncertainties due to the pandemic and the migration to UC, there was no overriding 
reason for fundamental change at this time.  Reductions in the level of support could 
have a significant impact claimants’ ability to pay and the Council’s ability to collect 
money; it would be counter-productive to try to make savings.   

Through the consultation, views for 2022/23 were being sought on whether the 
Council should retain its current scheme for the next financial year, to provide 
continuity.  Each year the Government reviewed and, generally, increased the 
amount people needed to live on for the calculation of welfare benefit.  By applying 

Appendix A

Page 89



the same changes to the CTS scheme, the Council would ensure that it remained up 
to date with the DWP allowances and premiums each year. 

Separate to the consultation proposals, an administrative change was proposed for 
introduction into the CTS scheme, which would not change the core scheme policy, 
its intent or principles, but would make it easier for new claimants to access CTS.  
Most new claims for CTS were received by claimants who had applied for UC.  
Applications for UC were made to the DWP, applications for CTS needed to be 
made to the local authority.  This meant that the claimant had to deal with two 
organisations and make separate applications to get the help they needed.  Where a 
UC claimant indicated they would like to apply CTS when making their UC claim, 
details were sent to the relevant council through the Universal Credit Data Sharing 
hub (UCDS).  The introduction of a link to the award of UC for CTS would remove 
the current requirement for the customer to make a separate application for CTS.  It 
was proposed that for 2022/23 the scheme was amended to enable a UCDS new 
claim notice from the DWP, to be treated as a CTS application, thereby simplifying 
the process for the claimant.

Members welcomed the proposals, including the administrative change to link claims 
for UC to the CTS scheme.

In response to questions, the Head of Revenues and Benefits explained that an 
element of Government grant funding for the CTS scheme remained, but the amount 
could no longer be identified.  People who did not claim UC would have to apply 
directly to the Council for CTS.  There were a number of discounts applicable to 
CTS, including the single person discount and some discretionary discounts.  The 
Revenues and Benefits department did have a significantly high workload, 
particularly as was also responsible for delivering Test & Trace support payments.  
The workload was at a peak and it was very difficult to forecast ongoing levels due to 
the pandemic.  CTS expenditure was currently decreasing, but this was also very 
difficult to forecast.  

Members expressed concern about the department’s workload and felt that 
consideration should be given to taking on additional staff.

The Deputy Leader advised Members that the department had achieved a significant 
reduction in the backlog of work.  

Action: SH
Advise Members of the length of delay for claimants making paper-based 
applications for CTS.

RESOLVED that it be recommended to Cabinet that:

1. The current Council Tax Support (CTS) scheme be retained for 2022/23 to 
provide continuity.

2. The CTS scheme be uprated in line with the Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP).  

Page 90



3. The CTS scheme be linked to the award for Universal Credit to enable a 
new claim notice to be sent from the DWP through the Universal Credit 
Data Sharing hub that will be treated as a CTS application, thereby 
removing the current requirement for the claimant to make a separate 
application for CTS and so simplify the process.

4. Staffing levels be closely monitored and additional staff be recruited as 
required.

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

Council Tax Support Scheme 2022/23 

Consultation Report  

Published 15th November 2021 

 

“You Said, We Listened” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix B

Page 93



2 
 

Introduction to this consultation 

 

1. This report contains the responses we received for the Council Tax Support Scheme 

2022/23 consultation between 10th September 2021 and 12th November 2021 and 

our responses to this feedback. 

 

2. The exercise was performed to gain the views of residents on the proposed Council 

Tax Support Scheme for the 2022/23 financial year.   

  

Methodology 

 

3. The consultation, which was available in both hard copy and online, was promoted 

in a number of ways. 

• A media release was circulated announcing the proposals for the Council 
Tax Support Scheme 2022/23. The media release also provided residents 
with details of the consultation exercise being undertaken and details of 

how to complete or request a copy of the consultation. 
• A letter was forwarded to precepting Authorities on 1st October 2020, 

inviting them to give their views on the proposals for 2022/23.  
• Social media; Facebook and Twitter were also used to inform residents that 

the consultation exercise was being undertaken.  

• A homepage banner was placed on the Council’s website to draw attention 
to the consultation.   

• Questionnaires were made available on request. 
• The questionnaire was also made available for people to complete on 

Boston Borough Council’s website.  

 
4. It should be noted that base data has been rounded to the nearest number (so  

may add up to between 99% and 101%).  

 

5. Where available this report details comparisons with the previous consultation. It 

should be noted that response options slightly differ from the previous consultation 

exercise. Where this report details comparisons with the previous consultation 

‘Strongly Agree’ and ‘Agree’ are combined to compare to ‘Yes’; ‘Neither Agree or 

Disagree’ are compared to ‘Don’t Know’ and ‘Strongly Disagree’ and ‘Disagree’ are 

combined to compare to ‘No’.  

 

  

Page 94



3 
 

Response Rate 

 

6. 30 electronic responses were received; an increase of 8 responses when compared 

with the previous consultation exercise undertaken in 2020.   

 

7. In addition, written responses were also received from Lincolnshire County Council 

and the Lincolnshire Police and Crime Commissioner. 

 

Results and Analysis     

 

Main characteristics of the Scheme 

 

8. Respondents were provided with details of the main characteristics of Council Tax 

Support Scheme and were asked if these should continue into 2022/23. The 

comparison chart below shows that 66% of all respondents ‘agreed’ that the 

Council should keep the main characteristics of the current Council Tax Support 

Scheme for the next financial year to provide continuity; a slight decrease of 5% 

when compared with the previous consultation exercise undertaken in 2020. It 

should be noted that there has been a slight shift from ‘No’ to ‘Don’t know’ when 

compared with the previous consultation exercise undertaken in 2020.  

 

 
 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

 

2020, 71%

2020, 19%

2020, 11%

2021, 66%

2021, 21%

2021, 14%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Yes No Don't know

Do you think the Council should retain the current scheme for the next financial 
year to provide continuity? 

Page 95



4 
 

Amending the Scheme to reflect DWP annual adjustments 

9. All respondents were informed that each year the Government reviews and 

generally increases the amount people need to live on for the calculation of welfare 

benefit.  By applying the same changes to the Council’s Council Tax Support 

Scheme, it would ensure that the Scheme remained up to date with the 

Department for Works and Pensions (DWP) allowances and premiums each year. All 

respondents were asked if they agreed with the proposal to increase the Council’s 

Scheme in line with the Department for Works and Pensions provisions for 2022/23 

and future years.   

 

• 79% of all respondents stated they ‘agreed’  

• 10% of all respondents ‘did not agree’  

• 10% of all respondents ‘did not know’ 

 

Responses from precepting authorities 

 

10. A response was received from Lincolnshire County Council which confirmed support 

for BBCs’ proposals for its Council Tax Support Scheme in 2022/23, noting that 

there are no suggested changes to the Scheme other than to align with Department 

of Work and Pensions uplifts for working age adults. 

 

11. A response was also received from the Office of the Lincolnshire Police and Crime 

Commissioner confirming that they noted BBCs’ proposals for its Council Tax 

Support Scheme in 2022/23. This response also proposed the introduction of a new 

Council Tax discount for members of the Special Constabulary. Details of the 

Commissioner’s proposal are attached at the end of this report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 96



5 
 

 

Page 97



6 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 98



7 
 

You Said, We Listened - Management response 

 
Thank you to everyone that took the time to complete the Council Tax Support 

Scheme 2022/23 consultation. The Council is committed to offering the most up 
to date and customer driven approach in providing the service. Your feedback 
helps us to continue to develop and improve the service. 

 
A report proposing the Council Tax Support Scheme for 2022/23 is due to 

considered at the Executive Board Meeting on 1 December 2021 and at the 
Council Meeting on 15 December 2021. The feedback received through this 
consultation will be included with the report.   

 

 

Contact:  

For more information relating to this report contact: 

• Jackie Todd, Consultation Officer at policy&performance@e-lindsey.gov.uk 

or 01507 601111 

Page 99

mailto:policy&performance@e-lindsey.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 
 

REPORT TO: CABINET 

DATE: 8TH DECEMBER 2021 

SUBJECT: 2020/21 QUARTER 4 FINANCE REPORT  

KEY DECISION: 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

YES 

COUNCILLOR SKINNER – LEADER (PERFORMANCE) 

COUNCILLOR NOBLE – FINANCE & RISK 

REPORT AUTHORS: 

 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: 

PETER DAVY, ACTING DEPUTY CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER (CLIENT) 

SAMANTHA KNOWLES, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR – FINANCE 

ALL 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

To provide information on the outturn financial position of the Council as at 31 March 2021. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. To note the 2020/21 outturn position of £1,423k underspend, with the 

recommendation that this is carried forward into 2021-22 in a ‘COVID Pressure 

Smoothing Reserve’. 

2. To recommend to Council to approve the reserve movement in Table, Appendix A. 

3. To recommend to Council to approve the updated capital programme position as 

detailed in Table 6, Appendix A. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

Members are accountable for the delivery of the Council’s priorities and this monitoring 

information should be used as a tool to report on progress and highlight any key challenges 

forecast 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Alternative reporting arrangements 

 Page 101

Agenda Item 6



REPORT 

Finance (Appendix A)  

1.1 The outturn position as at 31st March is an overall underspend of £1,423k, this is detailed 
further in appendix A, alongside key financial issues, developments and financial 
recommendations.  Information and updates relating to capital budgets, treasury 
management, insurance, debt collection, business rates and council tax collection are also 
provided. 
 

1.2 The Final Accounts audit for 2020/21 is still underway and therefore the figures in this 
report are subject to the conclusion of this audit and may change. 

 
CONCLUSION 
Overall, financial performance in Quarter 4 of 2020/21 was in line with targets but has been heavily 

impacted by Covid-19 restrictions as anticipated.  

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The financial implications are set out in the ‘Finance’ section of the report, with specific 
recommendations highlighted in the recommendations section at the beginning of this covering 
report  
 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Local Government Act 1999 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  

The performance and risk implications are set out in the relevant sections of the report, with 

specific recommendations highlighted at the beginning of this covering report. 

 
CONSULTATION 

Consultation with SLT 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Finance Q4 2020/21 

Page 102



 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Peter Davy; peter.davy@pspsl.co.uk 

Signed off by: Samantha Knowles; sknowles@sholland.gov.uk  

Approved for publication: Cllr Paul Skinner & Cllr Jonathan Noble 

 

 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



Finance Q4 2020/21 – Appendix A 
 
Please note the Final Accounts audit for 2020/21 is still underway and therefore the figures in this report 
are subject to the conclusion of this audit and may change. 
 
1 The National Picture – key financial events during Quarter 4 2020/21 
 
The main issues affecting the Council in the fourth quarter of 2020/21 were: 

 The full effects of the COVID-19 pandemic were still being felt  

 The Bank base rate was still at an historic low of 0.1% 

 Confirmation of the Funding Settlement for 2021/22 on 4th February 2021 
 
2 Revenue Budget   
 
Table 1 – Net spend for the year against budget by Service Area: 
 

   

Service Area 
 

Net 
Budget 

2020/21 
£’000 

Outturn 
2020/21 

 
£’000 

Variance 
(underspend)/ 

overspend 
£’000 

Summary of Main 
Variances 

Chief Executive 654 64 (590) 

Covid grants of £(1,100)k 
which are taken to 
reserves below offset by 
one off Strategic Alliance 
restructuring costs £238k. 

Deputy Chief Executive 971 836 (135) 

Economic Growth 
expenditure £51k funded 
from reserves see below 
and a number of both 
adverse and favorable 
variances make up the 
balance. Including 
Elections and planning .  

Chief Finance Officer 1,816 1,633 (183) 

Additional costs of £253k 
on ledger software mostly 
was mitigated here by 
New Burdens grant 
£(401)k. 

Head of Regulatory 
Services 

2,032 824 (1,208) 

Empowering healthy 
communities £(488)k 
income was taken to the 
Housing reserve, see 
below, for ongoing work 
on the project.  There was 
£(200)k of additional 
environment grants extra 
in year and £(100)k of this 
was assigned to current 
staff to do this work 
creating a salary saving.  
£(519)k homelessness 
grants move to reserves. 

Page 105



Head of Operations 959 1,206 247 
Waste and Recycling had 
a net £222k overspend 

Head of Place and Space 405 808 403 

Parking income was down 
£486k. Leisure income 
loss of £358k due to the 
impact of the pandemic.  
Sport England Grant 
received for PRSA £(141)k 
and reduced premises 
costs £(127)k 
 

BTAC 379 309 (70) 
Events were £40k 
underspent.  

A. Net Service Expenditure  7,216 5,680 (1,536)    

          

Drainage Board Precepts 1,960  1,960  0    

Direct Revenue Financing 
of Capital 

1,861  1,990  129  
This reflects Capital 
Programme activity  

Minimum Revenue 
Provision 

15  65  50  

This is a statutory amount 
set aside for the 
repayment of external 
debt 

Investment Income (100) (63) 37  
See Treasury report 
section further in report.  

Income Receivable from 
Property Funds 

(977) (901) 76  
See Treasury report 
section further in report. 

Investment Properties (194) (427) (233) 

Additional income in the 
year, budget to be 
reviewed in the next 
MTFS 

Interest Payable 494  494  0    

Net Transfer (from)/to 
Earmarked Reserves 

(926) 3,953  4,879  

Additional S31 monies 
received in the year but 
transferred to reserves to 
offset future years 
Collection Fund deficits.  

Transfer to Covid Pressures 
Budget Smoothing Reserve   0  1,423  1,423  

 Proposed transfer of 
underspend in 2020/21 to 
a new reserve to offset 
future pressures the 
Council may encounter 
from COVID-19  
  

B. Other Council Net 
Expenditure 

2,133  8,494  6,361  
 

 
   

 
Total Net Council 
Expenditure (A+B)  

9,349  14,174  4,825  
 

 
     

Page 106



Council Financing      

Council Tax  (4,429) (4,429) 0    

Business Rates (2,354) (2,659) (305)   

Renewable Energy (204) (45) 159    

Non Ring-Fenced 
Government Grant 

(2,362) (7,041) (4,679) 

Additional S31 grants to 
offset future deficits on 
the Collection Fund, 
transferred to Reserves 
above.  

C. Total Financing (9,349) (14,174) (4,825)   

 
 

Recommendation:   
F1   To note the 2020/21 outturn position of £1,423k underspend, with the recommendation that 
 this is carried forward into 2021-22 in a ‘COVID Pressure Smoothing Reserve’ 
 

 
3 Controlling Migration Fund 
 
Table 2 shows the total funding received on the project, which covers a 2-year period and the 
cumulative actual expenditure to 31 March 2021.  The small balance remaining is committed in 2021/22.  
 
Table 2 – Breakdown of Bid and Cumulative Spend to March 2021 
 

Spend Category 
Breakdown 

of Bid 
Spend to 31 

Mar 2021 

  £’000 £’000 

A Passion for People Project 80  80  

Community Leadership, Advice & Integration 467  466  

Adding Value to Learning 114  114  

Doing what’s important for our community 726  713  

Total 1,387  1,373  

 
4 Trading Income 
 

The Council has a number of demand led budget areas, which are reliant on receiving income for 
services provided. The COVID-19 pandemic however has had a significant impact on the sales, fees 
and charges income, most notably Parking, Leisure and Planning. Table 3a shows the position for 
the year including covid-19 claims received.  Table 3b additionally shows the key areas benefiting 
from the claims.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 107



Table 3a – Key Trading Income 
 

Income Area Budget 

Outturn 
Including 
Covid SFC 

Claims  

Variance 
Adverse / 

(Favorable) 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 

Building Control  (183) (168) 15  

Planning  (561) (585) (24) 

Land Charges  (91) (71) 20  

Licensing  (77) (69) 8  

Licenced Carriage Vehicles (54) (48) 6  

Garden Waste (574) (574) 0  

Bereavement  (859) (975) (116) 

Commercial Waste (285) (303) (18) 

Parking  (1,019) (533) 486  

Markets  (130) (104) 26  

Leisure (922) (564) 358  

Total (4,755) (3,994) 761  

 
 
Table 3b   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fees and Charges Claimed   £000s  

Planning (78) 

Markets (59) 

Parking (257) 

Leisure (419) 

Sub Total - 95% of claim (813) 

Sundry claims <£10k (43) 

Total claims received (856) 

Page 108



5 Earmarked Reserves 
 

The following table shows the level of earmarked reserves held at the beginning of the year, 
movements in the year, and the projected position at 31 March 2021: 
 
Table 4 – Earmarked Reserves 
 

Reserve 

Balance 
at 31 

March 
2020 

Transfers 
In 

Transfers 
Out 

Balance 
at 31 

March 
2021 

  2020/21 2020/21   

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital Funding (5,583) (1,565) 1,809   (5,339) 

Transformation Reserve (1,111) (809) 175   (1,745) 

Repairs and Renewals (704) (53) 32   (725) 

ICT Reserve (359) (17) 100   (276) 

Housing Reserve (1,280) (519) 552   (1,247) 

Controlling Migration (47) - 33   (14) 

Insurance Reserve (290) - 16   (274) 

Property Fund Returns Mitigation 
Reserve 

(1,000) (116) - (1,116) 

Funding Volatility Reserve (formally 
Council Tax Reserve) 

(2,975) (3,909) 364   (6,520) 

COVID-19 Reserve - (1,423) - (1,423) 

 (13,349) (8,411) 3,081   (18,679) 

 
Notes 

 The net movement inwards to reserves was £5,330k during the year (£8,411k in less 
£3,081k out)  

 Capital Funding Reserve – this reflects the in-year financing requirements associated with 
the revised capital programme, as set out in section 8. 

 Housing Reserve – the proposed movement reflects the recognition of homeless 
reduction grants. 

 Repairs and Renewals Reserve – the proposed movement in reserve reflects changes to 
the in-year financing requirements associated with the revised capital programme, as set 
out in section 8. 

 Funding Volatility Reserve - the proposed movement in reserve reflects changes to the in-
year financing requirements associated with the revised capital programme, as set out in 
section 8. 
 
 

Recommendation:  
 
F2 To recommend to Council to approve the reserve movements in Table 4.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 109



6 Treasury Management 
 
At 31 March 2021, the Council held £17.698m in cash investments (£17.600m at 31 December) and 
£19.492m in property funds (£19.152m at 31 December). The reduction in Property Fund values has 
occurred due to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 
The Council budgeted to receive £1,077,000 in gross investment income in 2020/21 comprising £977,000 
from Property Funds (including £209,000 of management fees), and £100,000 from cash investments. 

 
At 31 March 2021, total gross investment income for the year is £963,000 comprising £901,000 gross from 
Property Funds and £63,000 from cash investments. Property fund management fees for 2020/21 are 
£210,000.   

 
In 2020/21 the Council achieved an average gross revenue return (before deduction of management fees) 
of 4.62% from the Property Fund purchases (3.54% after fees) 

 
Treasury (cash) Investments achieved an average rate of 0.30%.  

 
Table 5 - Property Funds as at 31 March 2021 

    

Property Fund Sum 
Invested 

 
 

£’000 

Fair Value 
31 March 

2020 
 

£’000 

Fair Value 
31 March 

2021 
 

£’000 

In Year 
Gain 

/(Loss) 
2020-21 

£’000 

Black Rock  4,500 4,370 4,403 33 

Schroders 4,250 4,190 4,255 65 

Threadneedle 4,239 3,919 3,830 (89) 

M&G 4,000 3,531 3,478 (53) 

AEW 4,000 3,589 3,526 (63) 

TOTAL 20,989 19,599 19,492 (107) 

 
External Borrowing 

 
At the start of the 2020/21 financial year, the Council’s total long-term borrowing was £16.449m.  Total 
annual interest payable on external borrowing is estimated at £492,400. 

 
No additional borrowing was undertaken during the quarter ended 31 March 2021. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110



 
7  Capital 
 
The following table shows the Outturn position for 2020/21 against the approved capital programme for 
2020-21.  
 
Table 6 – Capital Programme for 2020/21 
 

Scheme 2020/21 
Approved 

Programme 
 
 

£’000 

Outturn  
2020-21 

 
 
 

£’000 

Net 
Slippage 

into 2021-
22  

 
£’000 

Scheme    

Disabled Facilities Grants* 1,050 381 669 

Housing Strategy 94 94 - 

Housing Scheme – Julian’s Yard/Ingelow 
Avenue 

25 - 25 

Marginal Viability Fund** 448 448 - 

Resurfacing and Footpath 
Improvements 

      

Multi Use Games Area (CMF) - - - 

Town Centre Heritage Scheme (PSICA 2)       

Upgrade to Bartec Collective 250 42 208 

Multi Use Games Area (CMF) 249 226 23 

Information Technology Refresh 100 97 3 

Upgrade to Bartec Collective - - - 

Vehicle Replacement       

    Ford Transit Tipper Van 22 - 22 

    Grounds Tractor   43 43 - 

    Refuse Vehicles*** 1,279 1,279 - 

   Road Sweepers x 2 251 244 7 

   Ford Vans x 2 15 7 8 

Crematorium – Canopy for Floral tribute 
area 

-  -  -  

Crematorium – Provision of Parking and 
Resurfacing Works 

- - - 

Crematorium-Cremator replacement 
phase 1 

209 220 -11 

Electric Vehicle Charging Points 
PE21 Boston Town Deal 

19 5 14 

 750 350 400 

    

 4,804 3,436 1,368 

Page 111



    

Capital Financing £’000 £’000 £’000 

External Grants and Contributions 2,742 1,447 1,295 

Capital Reserve 1,818 1,795 23 

I.T. Reserve 100 97 3 

Repairs and Renewals Reserve 46 - 46 
 

Housing Reserve 94 94 0 

Funding Volatility Reserve 4 3 1 

 4,804 3,436 1,368 

 
*Disabled Facility Grants  
 
Total resources for Disabled Facility Grants, including approved Better Care Funding of £0.558m for 
2020/21, is £1.050m.  
 
At the end of the financial year spend equated to £381k with the remaining funding being transferred to 
the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve for future use. Housing services are constantly seeking 
opportunities to increase the pace of delivery for the benefit of clients. 
 
**Marginal Viability Fund 
 
The £3.5m Housing Infrastructure Fund contract with Homes England was signed in July 2019 for the 
development of Boston United’s new Community Stadium, a new major road junction, new businesses 
and 212 new homes. The drawdown of funds is in three tranches, equating to one payment of £3.052m 
in Quarter 3, 2019/20 and a residual £0.448m paid over in two instalments in Q2 and Q3, 2020-21 with 
both the 2020-21 instalments fully realised. 
 
***Vehicle Replacements – Refuse Vehicles -  
 
New refuse fleet has been fully delivered with vehicles now delivering the service to Boston’s residents. 
 
 

Recommendation:  
 
F3 To recommend to council to approve the updated capital programme position as detailed in 

Table 6 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 112



8 Insurance 
 
The number of insurance claims against the Council are relatively small and are in line with previous 
years. Not all claims result in the Council making a settlement payment. 
 
 A summary of the number of claims received, comparing them to 2019/20 in brackets, is given below: 
 
Table 7 – Insurance claims received 2020/21 / (2019/20)  
 

Cover Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Public Liability 0 (1) 2 (2) 1 (1) 0(1) 

Employer’s Liability 0 (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) 0(0) 

Motor 1 (1) 2 (0) 2 (1) 2(1) 

Property 0 (0) 0 (0) 1 (0) 0(0) 

Total 1 (2) 4 (2) 4 (2) 2(2) 

 
 
9 Localisation of Business Rates and Council Tax Support  
 
Table 8 – Localisation of Business Rates 

 
Base 

Estimate 
2020/21 

Final Outturn 
2020/21 

Deficit in 
2020/21 – will 

impact next 
year’s budget 

  £ £ £ 

Business Rates income for the year (20,043,811)  (8,037,566)  (12,006,245)  

Less: Lincolnshire County Council share (10%) 2,004,381 803,757 1,200,624  

Less: Central Government share (50%) 10,021,906 4,017,783 6,004,123  

Boston Borough Council’s Share (40%) 8,017,524  3,216,026  4,801,498  

 
The position in Table 11 shows a deficit against the base estimate. It will however form an important part 
of the 2022/23 budget. Due to a large number of reliefs given to businesses by the government, mainly 
retail relief, the Council has been reimbursed by additional section 31 grants to offset this deficit 
 
Business Rates Assurance  
 
This report covers results for the 2017 Rating List changes to date (i.e. from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 
2021) and also includes any backdated 2010 Rating List changes made during the same period. The 
figures are cumulative.  Although growth had been achieved in Q4 of 2020/21, it has been more than 
offset by a single successful rating appeal on a previously reported growth case and so an overall 
reduction is being reported for the quarter.   
 
Of the 639 new cases finalised since 1 April 2017, a further 37 business rate assessments have been 
identified for the 2010 Rating List (making 233 extra ones from the start in 2014) and 166 extra ones 
have been identified for the 2017 Rating List.  2017 List Rateable Value growth of £3.67m has been 
achieved so far from these cases.  The positive impact on rates payable across both Lists has been 
£1.51m (15.8%).  Boston’s net share is £0.76m and this is worth an extra £0.77m to this Council 
annually. Unfortunately, this does not translate into additional funding of this amount for the Council 
overall, as there are other changes taking place (including properties becoming empty, relief being 
granted, changes of use, premises under reconstruction, etc.) that would, without the Business Rates 
Assurance Function, reduce the Council’s share of total business rate income. 

Page 113



 
The Valuation Office Agency (the body responsible for maintaining the Rating Lists) still had 24 rating 
appeals outstanding for the old 2010 Rating List (equating to 1.0% of Boston’s total rating assessments 
in that List). Following the introduction of the new Check and Challenge appeal process, up until 31 
March 2021 there had been 90 Challenges to entries in the 2017 Rating List – 40 had been determined 
and 50 remained outstanding (equating to 2.0% of Boston’s total rating assessments in that List).  The 
outcome of successful appeals is monitored as they are determined.  A provision has been estimated 
within the Council’s Accounts for potential losses on both Rating Lists. 
 
Council Tax Support Scheme  
 
2020/21 is the eighth year of the localised Council Tax Support (CTS) scheme. Following the statutory 
annual review during 2019/20, Boston continued with a largely unchanged scheme, while applying 
national up-ratings. The scheme continues to support the Government’s Welfare Reform agenda to 
bring further reductions to the national benefits bill. The continuation of the scheme sustains the 
required protection of those of pension age, protects vulnerable customers and encourages people into 
employment.  
 
Looking forward it is not likely that a fundamental review of the scheme will take place before the full 
migration to Universal Credit has taken place, currently estimated at 2024. This should allow sufficient 
evidence to determine all the on-going impacts of CTS in the Boston area where collection rates have 
remained relatively steady despite its negative impact elsewhere. 
 
Whilst Collection of Council tax at Boston Borough Council has been steady over the last five years, it 
has been below the national average for district councils. In 2020/21, collection dipped further due to 
the impact of the COVID 19 pandemic.  Through 2020/21 there was a slowing down of recovery 
processes, as well as a diversion of resources to deliver additional covid support measures on behalf of 
central government.  In recognition of this, the Council maintains a prudent approach to setting its bad 
debt provision. 
 
The number recipients of CTS in 2020/21 continued to show a broadly even split between working age 
claimants and pensioners. 
 
10 Other Financial Matters  
 
Audit and Governance Committee  
 
A number of reports were presented to Audit and Governance Committee on the 25 January 2021: 

 Risk Report Quarter 2 2020/21 

 Statement of Accounts 2020/21 – Accounting Policies 

 Treasury Management and Capital Strategy Update – Quarter 3 2020/21 

 Draft Budget Setting Report and Medium Term Finance Strategy 2021/22 – 2025/26 

 Internal Audit Progress Report 2020/21  

 Work Programme   
 
A number of reports were presented to Audit and Governance Committee on the 29 March 2021: 

 Audit Strategy Memorandum – Year Ending 31 March 2020 

 Annual Governance Statement 2019/20 

 Combined Assurance – Status Report by Internal Audit Manager 

 Internal Audit Progress Report 2020/21  

 Draft Internal Audit Plan 2021/22 

 Work Programme 
 

Page 114



 

 

 

 

 
 

REPORT TO: CABINET 

DATE: 8TH DECEMBER 2021 

SUBJECT: QUARTER 2 REPORT – PERFORMANCE, PROJECTS, RISK AND 

FINANCE 

KEY DECISION: 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

YES 

COUNCILLOR SKINNER – LEADER (PERFORMANCE) 

COUNCILLOR NOBLE – FINANCE & RISK 

REPORT AUTHORS: 

 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: 

SUZANNE ROLFE, INSIGHTS AND TRANSFORMATION MANAGER 

PETE DAVY, ACTING DEPUTY CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER (CLIENT) 

ALL 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

This is the quarterly report covering performance, projects, risk and finance monitoring 

information for Quarter 2 of 2021/22 (as at September 2021). 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. To note the quarterly monitoring information for Q2 2021/22 

2. Cabinet to recommend to council the proposed movements in Table 3, Appendix C  

3. Cabinet to recommend to council to approve the updated capital programme 

position as detailed in Table 5, Appendix C 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

Members are accountable for the delivery of the Council’s priorities and this monitoring 

information should be used as a tool to report on progress and highlight any key challenges 

forecast 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Alternative reporting arrangements 

Page 115

Agenda Item 7



REPORT 

Background 

1.1 A joint performance management framework has been agreed across Boston and East 
Lindsey Councils to support joint delivery of services.  This will soon be reviewed in the 
context of the new, wider, Partnership that includes South Holland District Council. 

 
1.2 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) have been agreed through the service planning process 

to capture performance against Boston Borough Council’s Corporate Strategy and East 
Lindsey District Council’s Strategic Aims.  The performance targets are designed to stretch 
performance within services as opposed to being targets that are easily achievable. 

 
1.3 A combined performance report has been presented to Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) 

and this information has then been split out by Council for reporting to Boston’s Cabinet 
and Scrutiny Committees and to East Lindsey’s Executive Board and Overview Committee. 

 
1.4 This report presents the performance information for Boston Borough Council for Quarter 2 

of 2021/22 (as at September 2021).  
 
1.5 Alongside the performance information is an update on the progress of key projects as at 

the end of Quarter 2. 
 
 
Performance (Appendix A) 

2.1 In total there are 20 KPIs for Boston Borough Council. 7 are on or better than target, 10 are 
worse than target, 3 are not available. 

 
2.2 Performance on or better than target in Q2: 

• Number of properties improved through Council intervention 

• Percentage of homelessness cases that were opened at homelessness prevention stage that 
resulted in the customer not becoming homeless  

• Number of families with children placed into B&B for more than 6 calendar weeks 

• Percentage of fly-tips collected within 3 working days of being reported 

• Percentage of food premises inspections completed against the Food Standards Agency 
annual inspection plan 

• Time to process Benefit change events 

• Council Tax collection rate 
 
2.3 Performance worse than target in Q2: 

• Percentage of car parking income received against agreed budget 

• Percentage of commercial rent received against agreed budget 

• Percentage of cases opened at homelessness prevention stage (i.e. before they have 
become homeless) 

• Number of verified rough sleepers 

• Percentage of Alliance workforce who said 'yes' when asked if they felt valued at work 

• Percentage of ‘major’ planning applications determined within 13/16 weeks 

• Percentage of ‘minor’ planning application determined within 8 weeks 

• Percentage of ‘other’ planning applications determined within 8 weeks 

• Time to process new Benefit claims 

• NDR collection rate 

Page 116



 

Project updates (Appendix B) 

3.1 A joint project management framework is in place across Boston and East Lindsey Councils, 
including monthly reporting to SLT and quarterly reporting to Boston’s Cabinet and Scrutiny 
and East Lindsey’s Executive Board and Overview Committee. The Q2 update report is 
attached at Appendix B. 

 
Risk management 

4.1 The next area for review is the risk management framework to provide a consistent 
approach across the Councils. East Lindsey District Council has a strategic risk register in 
place. Boston’s strategic risk register needs to be updated to reflect the new Corporate 
Strategy. All operational and project risks need to be reviewed to reflect the changes in 
structure and working practices. Work is underway to bring this together for reporting back 
in Q3.    

 

Finance (Appendix C)  

5.1 This section includes key financial issues, developments and financial recommendations. 
 Information and updates relating to the revenue and capital budgets, treasury 
 management, insurance, debt collection, business rates and council tax collection are also 
 provided, this is attached at Appendix C. 
 
CONCLUSION 
Overall, performance and projects in Quarter 2 of 2021/22 are in line with targets and remedial 

action is in place where required. 

Strategic and operational risks continue to be managed in accordance with the Risk Management 

Framework with a thorough review underway for reporting in Q3. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The financial implications are set out in the ‘Finance’ section of the report, with specific 
recommendations highlighted in the recommendations section at the beginning of this covering 
report  
 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Local Government Act 1999 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

Page 117



OTHER IMPLICATIONS  

The performance and risk implications are set out in the relevant sections of the report, with 

specific recommendations highlighted at the beginning of this covering report. 

 
CONSULTATION 

Consultation with SLT 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Q2 performance 

APPENDIX B Q2 project updates 

APPENDIX C Q2 finance  

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Suzanne Rolfe; suzanne.rolfe@boston.gov.uk  

Signed off by: James Gilbert, james.gilbert@e-lindsey.gov.uk  

Approved for publication: Cllr Paul Skinner & Cllr Jonathan Noble 

 

 

Page 118

mailto:suzanne.rolfe@boston.gov.uk
mailto:james.gilbert@e-lindsey.gov.uk


Appendix A: Q2 Performance 2021/22 

Performance Key 

Performance  Trend 

Achieved or 
exceeded target 

Within an Agreed 
Tolerance 

Outside of Agreed 
Tolerances 

Numbers have 
increased 

Improvement in 
trend or service 

No significant change  
Numbers have 

decreased 

Deterioration in 
trend or service 

       

 

Boston Borough Council KPIs 

Assets Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

ASB001 Percentage of car parking income received against agreed budget L 83.16% 100.00% 

ASB002 Percentage of commercial rent received against agreed budget L 91.40% 100.00% 

Housing and Wellbeing Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

HWB001 Number of properties improved through Council intervention J 56 40 

HWB002 Percentage of cases opened at homelessness prevention stage (i.e. before they have become homeless) L 58.93% 70.00% 

HWB003 
Percentage of homelessness cases that were opened at homelessness prevention stage that resulted in the customer not 
becoming homeless 

J 92.86% 70.00% 

HWB004 Number of verified rough sleepers (quarterly snapshot, verified at street count) L 5 0 

HWB005 Number of families with children placed into B&B for more than 6 calendar weeks J 0 0 

Organisation and Corporate Support Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

OCA001 Percentage of Alliance workforce who said 'yes' when asked if they felt valued at work L 73.03% 84.00% 

Operations Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

OPB001 Percentage of household waste collected for recycling and composting     39.00% 

OPB002 Percentage of recycling collected that is contaminated and unable to be recycled     28.00% 

OPB003 Percentage of fly-tips collected within 3 working days of being reported J 97.80% 95.00% 

OPB004 Market stall occupancy rate - percentage occupied against the target       

Planning Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

PLB001 Percentage of major planning applications determined within 13/16 weeks L 50.00% 65.00% 

PLB002 Percentage of minor planning application determined within 8 weeks L 54.17% 75.00% 

PLB003 Percentage of other planning applications determined within 8 weeks L 70.00% 75.00% 

P
age 119



Boston Borough Council KPIs 

Regulations Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

RGB001 Percentage of food premises inspections completed against the Food Standards Agency annual inspection plan K 98.36% 100.00% 

PSPS Performance 
Latest 
Value 

Target 

PSB001 Time to process new Benefit claims (days) [BR&BIND005a] L 22.52 10.00 

PSB002 Time to process Benefit change events (days) [BR&BIND005b] J 11.54 14.00 

PSB003 Council Tax collection rate [BR&BIND003] K 52.18% 52.50% 

PSB004 NDR collection rate [BR&BIND002] L 49.64% 56.00% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 120



Section 1 - Performance  

Assistant Directorate: Assets 

 

 

 

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

83.16% 100.00% L N/A

ASB001 - Percentage of car parking income received against agreed budget

Lead

Andy Fisher

Ticket sales and permit income combined.

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

91.40% 100.00% L N/A

ASB002 - Percentage of commercial rent received against agreed budget

Lead

Andy Fisher

Figures include most land and property assets. All of these will be included from Quarter 3 

onwards.

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Page 121



Assistant Directorate: Housing and Wellbeing 

 

 

 

 

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

56 40 J 

HWB001 - Number of properties improved through Council intervention

Lead

Emily Spicer

No commentary received.

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

58.93% 70.00% L 

HWB002 - Percentage of cases opened at homelessness prevention stage (i.e. before they have 

become homeless)

Lead

Emily Spicer

Figures starting to improve due to measures which have been put in place to improve 

performance. 

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Page 122



 

 

 

 

 

 

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

92.86% 70.00% J 

HWB003 - Percentage of homelessness cases that were opened at homelessness prevention 

stage that resulted in the customer not becoming homeless

Lead

Emily Spicer

Performance has improved since last quarter however the number of cases still remains low 

compared to the number of cases opened. This will be monitored over the coming months.

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

5 0 L N/A

HWB004 - Number of verified rough sleepers (quarterly snapshot, verified at street count)

Lead

Emily Spicer

There were 5 people on the street at the end of September.  2 refusing to engage, 1 passing 

through, 1 refuses to pay rent or bills and the other person has very specific requirements.  The 

new team continue to support them and are achieving positive outcomes. Achieving zero is very 

challenging but this is the Government's aim so we are trying to achieve this figure. 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Page 123



 

 

 

Assistant Directorate: Organisation and Corporate Services 

 

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

0 0 J 

HWB005 - Number of families with children placed into B&B for more than 6 calendar weeks

Lead

Emily Spicer

No households with children were placed into B&B for more than 6 weeks.

0

0

0

1

1

1

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

73.03% 84.00% L N/A

OCA001 - Percentage of Alliance workforce who said 'yes' when asked if they felt valued at work

Lead

James Gilbert

Whilst not at target yet, there is a marked improvement from the Q1 return to the Q2 return.  The Values & 

Behaviours for the Strategic Alliance was launched on 1st July 2021. The development of the shared Values 

and Behaviours included wide stakeholder engagement across the workforce.  Since the launch on 1st July, 

the embedding plan has commenced with activity currently running up to March 2022.   We will  also look to 

gather staff engagement data from other local authorities to benchmark our results against general employee 

engagement. 

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Page 124



Assistant Directorate: Operations 

 

 

 

 

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

39.00% N/A

OPB001 - Percentage of household waste collected for recycling and composting

Lead

Victoria Burgess

Performance data is not available for the current period. The service is awaiting agreement from 

the Waste Disposal Authority in relation to changes in how recycling performance is measured. 

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

Quarter 4 20/21 Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

28.00%

OPB002 - Percentage of recycling collected that is contaminated and unable to be recycled

Lead

Victoria Burgess

Performance data is not available for the current period. The service is awaiting agreement from 

the Waste Disposal Authority in relation to changes in how recycling performance is measured. 

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

30.00%

Quarter 4 20/21 Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Page 125



 

 

 

 

 

 

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

97.80% 95.00% J N/A

OPB003 - Percentage of fly-tips collected within 3 working days of being reported

Lead

Victoria Burgess

Quarter 4 2019/20 Using North Sea Camp Volunteers Total Fly Tips 387

Quarter 1 2020 Total Fly Tips 646

Quarter 2 2020 Total Fly Tips 775                                                                                                    

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

Quarter 4 20/21 Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

70.00% N/A

OPB004 - Market stall occupancy rate - percentage occupied against the target

Lead

Phil Perry

No data for Boston markets relating to Quarter 2 received.

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Page 126



Assistant Directorate: Planning 

 

 

 

 

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

50.00% 65.00% L N/A

PLB001 - Percentage of major planning applications determined within 13/16 weeks

Lead

Mike Gildersleeves

This performance measure exceeds the national minimum requirement. Major applications 

commonly are those which require negotiations, amendments, Committee decisions or legal 

agreements. Hence a number of the majors going beyond the statutory period, but largely these 

are determined 'in time' through longer periods agreed with agents/applicants. Performance is 

100% against a national target of 60% including with extensions.

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

54.17% 75.00% L N/A

PLB002 - Percentage of minor planning application determined within 8 weeks

Lead

Mike Gildersleeves

This performance measure exceeds the national minimum requirement. There are many reasons applications 

can go beyond their statutory period (eg negotiations, amendments, Committee decisions etc). However, most 

of these are subsequently determined 'in time' through longer periods agreed with agents/applicants. In 

addition, the ongoing changes and general workloads within the service will  impact on performance in the 

short term. Performance is 97.92% against a national target of 70% including with extensions.

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Page 127



 

 

Assistant Directorate: Regulations 

 

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

70.00% 75.00% L N/A

PLB003 - Percentage of other planning applications determined within 8 weeks

Lead

Mike Gildersleeves

This performance measure exceeds the national minimum requirement. There are many reasons applications 

can go beyond their statutory period (eg negotiations, amendments, Committee decisions etc). However, most 

of these are subsequently determined 'in time' through longer periods agreed with agents/applicants. In 

addition, the ongoing changes and general workloads within the service will  impact on performance in the 

short term. Performance is 81.43% against a national target of 70% including with extensions.

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Latest Target Performance YoY Trend

98.36% 100.00% K N/A

RGB001 - Percentage of food premises inspections completed against the Food Standards Agency 

annual inspection plan

Lead

Christian Allen 

With the exception of a small number of fishing vessels which could not be inspected owing to the seasonal 

nature of their business, Boston is undertaking its food safety inspection programme as it did before the start 

of the pandemic.  Unlike most, if not all, other local authorities, Boston has not had to implement the Food 

Standards Agency recovery plan to retrieve the food safety inspection programme to where it was before the 

pandemic.  Hence food safety inspections will  be reported in the same way as before the service was 

disrupted by the pandemic, rather than against the FSA Recovery Plan.

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

120.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Page 128



Assistant Directorate: PSPS 

 

 

 

 

Latest Target Performance Trend

22.52 10.00 L N/A

PSB001 - Time to process new Benefit claims (days) [BR&BIND005a]

Lead

Samantha Knowles

Processing speed is below target, hampered by balancing high workloads and resources, 

including the diversion of experienced resources to deliver Test and Trace. Also, it’s due to the 

work required to clear the backlog of unprocessed records that accumulated prior to PSPS taking 

over the service.

0.00

5.00

10.00

15.00

20.00

25.00

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Target

Latest Target Performance Trend

11.54 14.00 J N/A

PSB002 - Time to process Benefit change events (days) [BR&BIND005b]

Lead

Samantha Knowles

Performance is on target.

0.00

5.00

10.00

15.00

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Target

Page 129



 

 

 

 

 

 

Latest Target Performance Trend

52.18% 52.50% K N/A Samantha Knowles

Collection is marginally below target but this has been affected by the direction of resources 

earlier in the financial year from recovery of unpaid Council Tax to the award of Covid Business 

Grants.

Lead

PSB003 - Council Tax collection rate [BR&BIND003]

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Latest Target Performance Trend

49.64% 56.00% L N/A

This KPI is below target but comparisons with targets and previous years are not valid, as the 

partial removal of Covid related reliefs part way through the year has meant that the liability is 

not distributed evenly throughout the year and is weighted towards the end of the year.

PSB004 - NDR collection rate [BR&BIND002]

Lead

Samantha Knowles

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Current Performance Previous Year's performance Set Target

Page 130



Ti
m

e

Fi
na

nc
e

Re
so

ur
ci

ng

O
ut

co
m

es

Ri
sk

Recovery project: Council 
Assets - encourage start-ups 
and grown-ons in vacant 
property owned or 
controlled by the Council 
e.g. Tedder Hall

Both Andy Fisher
Duncan 

Hollingworth
£2,000 26/07/2021

Limited progress has been made with the disposal or reuse of 
major assets, e.g. Tedder Hall or Skegness Town Hall, however, 
industrial land in Louth has all but been taken by the market, 
Boston Business Centre is fully occupied with growing interest 
and demand and Council concessions and other commercial 
property across the Alliance area retain very high occupancy 

rates.  Mablethorpe Business Centre is the only key assets that 
has lower occupancy rates than desired.  resources are however 

limited to day job resources.

g g a a a - -

Recovery project: Council 
Rents - help to protect 
existing and distressed 
businesses that occupy 
council owned property 
through sympathetic and 
supportive management of 
rents

Both Andy Fisher
Duncan 

Hollingworth
- 26/07/2021

The Property team, in regular consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder have maintained a very active role in managing 

commercial arrears.  The peak debt of over £1 million in 
September 2020 has been reduced to just over £300k as at July 

2021 with bespoke arrangements in place with a number of 
tenants.  The Council has taken a ‘firm but fair’ position with 
arrears and will continue to assess each case on its specific 
merits.  As recovery for businesses is a long haul, the risk of 
arrears to the Council should remain amber until pre-covid 

levels are achieved.

g g g g a - -

Recovery project: Targeted 
acquisition of vacant and 
under-used premises for 
redevelopment

Both Andy Fisher Michelle Sacks

TBA
Option 1: £2m+
Option 2: £1m+
Option 3: c£50-

100k

26/07/2021

This project will be aligned to the opportunities of Boston’s 
Levelling Up Bid and East Lindsey’s Investors in the Coast.  

Models for holding assets are being developed that should 
facilitate significant redevelopment through utilisation of 

external resources.  The model would see resources recycled to 
continue the repurposing of underused premises.

g g g g g - -

HM Land Registry Migration 
Project (Boston)

BBC Christian Allen Jade Dicrosta

£60k HMLR 
transition 

funding; £14k 
estimated new 

burdens 
payment; £35k 
to fund project 
support officer 
for 18 months

13/10/2021

We are near completion on early engagement activities and are 
proposed to go into migration in November 2021. We are 

currently reviewing the Collaboration Agreement for migration 
delivery and propose to have this signed ahead of the handover 

meeting beginning of November. 

g g g g g

Signed 
Collaboration 

Agreement to enter 
migration 

November-2021

April 2023 (subject to 
confirmation with 

HMLR)

Those projects highlighted in red have not received an update from the project leads for at least 2 consecutive months.

Next Milestone
Completion 

Date

Latest Assessed Rating

Project Name
BBC/ 
ELDC

Assistant 
Director

Project Lead Budget
Last 

Update
Progress Detail

Appendix B

P
age 131



Recovery project: Rapid 
Community Testing and 
Vaccination Site Support

Both Christian Allen
Kristina 

Willoughby

External 
funding and 

existing 
resources

16/09/2021

Outreach team of agency staff deploying LFT kits to events, 
coastal resorts, town markets, leisure facilities and car boots. 

Funded by LOEB. Locations informed by engagement with Public 
Health and covid prevalence rates and vaccination take up. 

Paper being prepared for LOEB to maintain provision to end of 
March on a more flexible and responsive deployment 

arrangement

g a g g g
Funding decision by 
LOEB October 2021

March 2022

Migration to 
Uniform/LALPAC – Boston 
Borough Council (ADP PLN / 
OCS 4.1)

BBC James Gilbert
Nickie 

McDonald

TBC following 
procurement 

and subject to 
member 

agreement

16/09/2021
Initial Boston Procurement meeting held on 14/6/21; paused to 

further review requirements and direction of travel

g g g g g

Procurement – 
June 21 to 
September

Jul-23

Joint Cultural Strategy (ADP 
EG 2.2; EG 2.7; EG 7.1)

Both Lydia Rusling
Lydia Rusling / 
Martin Kay and 

Luke Skerritt

Funding from 
ACE

16/09/2021
Meeting with ACE to agree revised timeline, which has 

subsequently been approved. Consultancy commissioned and 
project update provided to ACE. Priority status 16/9/21.

g g g g g

Procurement 
exemption for 

consultancy and 
commence 

consultation and 
plan, as agreed by 

ACE.

December-2021

Boston Town Deal
PE21 project (ADP AST 2.1)

BBC Lydia Rusling
Lydia Rusling / 
Sharon Warner

£21.9m 11/10/2021

Leisure Project (formerly PE21) – early stages of development.
Mayflower – business case March 2022

St Botolphs Library and Lighting – business case submitted.
Blenkin Memorial Hall – business case submitted.

Centre for Food and Fresh Produce Logistics – draft business 
case to be discussed at the next Board Meeting.

Healing the High St (including Shodfriars) – draft business case 
to be presented to the next Board Meeting.

Connected Living – withdrawn and resource reallocated to the 
Leisure project.

Boston Station – business case January 2022.

g g g g g

next meeting early 
November; 

business case 
March 2022

Mar-25

Recovery project: Car parks - 
identify, enable and 
promote more attractive 
uses e.g. for eating out/ café 
culture, public seating

Both Lydia Rusling Lisa J. Collins

£100k-£250k 
(marketing, 

engagement, 
wayfinding, 

signage)

27/07/2021
Implemented in Louth with support from Active Travel 

Fund/LCC.
g g g g g - -

P
age 132



Recovery project: Digital 
Marketing - swift 
implementation of a digital 
marketing tool across the 
Alliance’s area to help the 
leisure and tourism industry 
take full advantage of any 
increase is “Staycations”

Both Lydia Rusling Lisa J. Collins
£300k 

(business 
support)

16/09/2021
Contract finalised, awaiting feedback from Procurement. Both 
BBC/ELDC teams have met with DMO to confirm delivery plan. 

National DMO review released 15/9.
a g g a a

Transfer funding to 
enable service 

delivery. 
(Highlighted Amber 

due to delay in 
transfer of 
funding).

Mar-23

Recovery project: Events - 
programme tailored to the 
particular reputation of 
each place/market town 
(e.g. Taste Lincolnshire 
events linked to a new 
digital marketing platform; 
food festivals; antiques and 
craft fairs)

Both Lydia Rusling TBC
£21k (project 

officer)
£50k (events)

16/09/2021
Events Officer appointment approved as part of Economic 

Growth Service Review. Job description produced. Update 16/9: 
job evaluation complete.

r r
Resou
rcing

r Risk

Service Review 
launch and 
recruitment 

process.

Mar-22

Recovery project: Shop 
fronts and shop 
improvement grants to 
bring vacant premises back 
into use and encourage 
”living above the shop”

Both Lydia Rusling

Lisa J. Collins / 
Mike 

Gildersleeves / 
Emilie Wales

£375k 27/07/2021

See update from MG on Vacant shops - encourage “pop-up” 
uses or window dressing pending reletting/redevelopment.
In addition there are shop frontage schemes funded by the 
towns fund for Mablethorpe and Skegness – both are led by 

Heritage Lincolnshire with support from Emilie Wales. Projects 
confirmed.

a a a a a

See update from 
MG.

Towns Fund 
Projects – full 
business case 
development.

-

Boston City project BBC Lydia Rusling Lydia Rusling Minimal 16/09/2021
Project brief agreed by SLT. Project meeting held and support 

from external stakeholders is starting to come through. 
a g a g g

Stakeholder 
Engagement – 

Sep/Oct21

Application deadline 
08/12/21

Boston Alternative Energy 
Facility – examination 
process (ADP PLN 2.1)

BBC
Mike 

Gildersleeves
Mike 

Gildersleeves
N/A 07/10/2021

The NSIP examination has commenced, with the 2x Preliminary 
Examination meetings having been heard.

The Inspector advised on 7/10/21 that the examination would 
proceed and this would be based on his initial timetable, with 
further details to follow. The submission is programmed for an 

anticipated decision early in 2022.

g g g g g

Local Impact 
Statements, 

Statements of 
Common Ground. 

31/10/2021

TBC

P
age 133



Recovery project: 
Encouragement of 
economic activity and 
growth through the 
planning system

Both
Mike 

Gildersleeves
-

Mostly within 
existing 

resources
£15k (external 

review of 
Scheme of 

Delegation)
£10k (external 

review of 
Validation 

procedures)

14/10/2021

Since the 1st April Boston has reverted to the national 
requirements for validation of planning applications. This is in 

response to feedback from agents/architects, but also in 
response to the recovery plan by seeking to avoid un-necessary 
and burdensome costs associated with submissions. The project 
is marked as Amber due to ongoing changes within the Planning 

Service to bring the ELDC and BBC teams together under 
OneTeam. In addition, there are areas of the service where key 
posts are vacant, and this in combination with general workload 

is leading to pressures within the existing teams. This can be 
managed to a degree through external resource, however, it 
does limit the services ability to do more proactive/forward 

thinking work as was proposed by this project. Additional short-
term capacity may also be required.

a a a g a Ongoing N/A

Recovery project: Vacant 
shops - encourage “pop-up” 
uses or window dressing 
pending reletting/ 
redevelopment

Both
Mike 

Gildersleeves
-

£50k 
(marketing & 
engagement)

14/10/2021

Member decision to remove the project from the Covid 
Recovery Plan. This was circulated to Cllrs, with Cllrs Welton and 

Ashton confirming agreement to remove the project from the 
overall plan, and focus on a more informal Economic 

Development and Community led solution. No response was 
received from Cllr Grist and Cllr Kirk.

Removal of the project would not create any significant risk to 
the Council(s) and would not undermine the overall objectives 

of the Covid Recovery Plan.

r r
Resou
rcing

a a
None - Projected to 

be removed
None - Projected to 

be removed

P
age 134



Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy (ADP HWB 2.1; 
HWB 4.1)

Both Emily Spicer
Roxanne 
Warwick

- 15/09/2021

Lincolnshire District Councils are committed to developing an 
ambitious agenda for improving health and wellbeing in 

Lincolnshire. 
Throughout the pandemic we have been working closely 

together and are collaborating to develop and demonstrate our 
role in the local health system.

The recent Integrated Care System (ICS) policy underlines this 
importance of working together and Districts now have timely 

opportunity to influence.
Integrated Care Systems have four key aims: 
Improving population health and healthcare

Tackling unequal outcomes and access
Enhancing productivity and value for money

Helping the NHS to support broader social and economic 
development

District leads have come together over the last few months to 
work on a District led Health & Wellbeing strategy

The Strategy has five emerging themes: 
Housing and homelessness

Activity and wellbeing
Environment and climate

Economic inclusion
Community empowerment

g g g g g 01/11/21 01/06/2022

Integrated housing register 
and homelessness IT system 
(ADP HWB 4.1; HWB 6.1)

Both Emily Spicer Jason Oxby - 15/09/2021

The Housing Register and revised Housing Allocation scheme 
went live on 28th June 2021.

Boston applicants are reregistering on the new system and will 
all require to be re-assessed.

Social Housing vacancies won’t be advertised on-line until at 
least August however applicants are being put forward through 

a direct let process rather than bidding in the meantime.
The Homelessness part of the system is being configured for 

BBC use.  The current homelessness system can continue to be 
used until later in the year if required.

a a a a a 01/10/21 -

Recovery project: 
Empowering healthy 
Communities (Community 
Champions Programme) 
(ADP HWB 1.1 / 1.3)

BBC Emily Spicer
Nichola 

Holderness

£494,800 
(external 
funding)

08/10/2021

Launch of Big Boston survey – on Social Change, Behaviour 
Insights Project.

Launch of #BeBoston campaign – Pride In Place project.
Payments have been made on four councillor grant schemes

g g g g g 01/11/2021 31/03/2022

P
age 135



Rough sleeper 
accommodation (ADP HWB 
1.2; HWB 1.1)

Both Emily Spicer Jason Oxby - 15/09/2021

The properties in Skegness are not available as yet.  Framework 
are assisting current occupiers of the accommodation to find 

alternative housing.
Some of the properties in Boston are about ready to be moved 

into. Nominees are being considered.  
Framework have been recruiting staff to manage the 

accommodation across the two districts. 

a a a a a 01/11/21 TBC

ICT infrastructure 
investment (ADP SSP / OCS 
4.6)

PSPS digital infrastructure 
projects (ADP SSP 6.1)

Both Phil Perry Jackie Wright - 15/09/2021

U4BW - The Boston Unit4 Implementation project (FinVis22) 
mobilisation phase is now complete, formal sign-off expected 

soon. The next FinVis22 project phase is the Design Phase, 
which was launched this week.   

First4HR – Case Management System - Intended roll out now 
October, have been testing and trialling in September.

ICT Infrastructure Projects. Full Network Audit – Complete with 
minimal areas of concern found.  This has allowed us to progress 

opening networks between ELDC and BBC which is being 
completed on a case by case basis. 

Full Device Audit – Complete will now be uploaded to the ICT 
Service Desk solution to ensure a central point of asset 

management.   

g g g g g - 31/03/2022

Recovery project: 
Procurement alignment 
across the Alliance and 
opportunities for local 
businesses

Both Phil Perry Phil Perry
£5k (legal & 

procurement 
advice)

14/09/2021

The loss of the procurement Officer has halted the alignment of 
Procurement policy across the Alliance temporarily.  It has also 

reduced capacity to support and advise Departments on 
Procurement/Contract management matters. Review of a 

Procurement Officer Job Description & Person Spec is in hand 
and recruitment to the post is to follow at the first opportunity. 

The formation of the South & East Councils Partnership is 
anticipated to see a change in responsibilities for the 

Procurement service. It is hoped that the Assistant Director for 
the service going forward becomes clearer on the 20th 

September in readiness for interviewing any prospective 
candidates. 

a a a a a

To recruit to the 
vacant post.

To put in place 
robust external 

support 
mechanisms for 

ELDC.
To align existing 

procurement policy 
across the 

Alliance/Partnershi
p.

To work through 
External support on 

future 
options/opportuniti

es in line with 
changing 

Government 
Regulations 
concerning 

procurement.  

31/03/2022

P
age 136



Recovery project: 
Environmental 
improvements – Street 
Scene (Big Boston Clean Up, 
Litter Champions, floral 
displays, fly-tipping)

BBC Victoria Burgess Matt Fisher
£26,500 

(additional 
flyswat team)

14/09/2021

Funding identified for additional team, floral displays, etc from 
the Welcome Back Fund. Approval received for temporary post 
to provide resource to develop these projects. Job information 

being compiled to enable recruitment to begin.

a a a a a
Procurement 

complete 
14/11/2021

April 2022

Recovery project: Markets – 
support to traders

Both Victoria Burgess
Victoria Burgess 
/ Esther Belton

£87,373 rent 
reduction 

(ARG)
£5,800 

canopies & 
stewards

14/10/2021
New canopies for BBC being funded through the Welcome Back 

Fund.
a a a r a 01/11/21 April 2022

Recovery project: Extend 
the seasons on the coast 
(including grant support to 
gap fund skills/jobs) 
Suggested Project title 
change to: Recovery 
Project: Support businesses 
to realise revival 
opportunities post-C19 
trading restrictions

Both Lydia Rusling
James 

Makinson-
Sanders

TBC 14/10/2021 Project Not Being Taken Forwards a a a a a
Internal Approval 
November-2021

Mar-22

Recovery project: Survey 
businesses to identify 
opportunities for bespoke 
interventions

Both Lydia Rusling
James 

Makinson-
Sanders

£5k 27/07/2021 Project Not Being Taken Forwards a a a a a - -

P
age 137



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Boston Borough Council - Finance Q2 2021/22 
 
 
1 The National Picture – key financial events during Quarter 2 2021/21 
 

 On 15 July, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government published the full list of 

101 confirmed Town Deal Offers. Town Deals have been offered to all 101 places that were 

invited to develop proposals.  

 On 29 July, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government published a press 

release to announce that the Changing Places toilets fund is now open for applications. Councils 

can now apply for a share of the £30m fund to install Changing Places toilets. The funding is to 

install larger accessible toilets for people who cannot use standard toilets, with equipment such 

as hoists, curtains, adult sized changing benches and space for carers. 

 On 20 August, the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government published a news 

story to announce that councils in England, Scotland and Wales will have access to a share of 

£5m to help provide housing and support to Afghans who have worked for this country in 

Afghanistan, but now face threats of persecution. 

 
 
2 Revenue Budget   
 
Table 1 – Net spend for the year against budget by Service Area: 
 

Service Area 

Net 
Revised 
Budget 

2021/22 

Projected 
 Outturn 
2021/22 

Variance 
(underspend)/ 

overspend 

Summary of Main 
Variances 

  £’000 £’000 £’000   

     

Net Expenditure         

Chief Exec & Leadership 523  84  (439) 
Covid-19 grants received in 
year offset by cost 
pressures such as PPE 

Organisation & Corporate 1,899  1,871 (28) 
Small variance on supplies 
and services budgets 

Support & Partnerships 1,490  1,944 454  

£320k net pressure on 
Leisure Services and £149k 
grant paid to the Leisure 
provider which was paid to 
BBC from Sport England 
during 2020/21 and set 
aside in reserves therefore 
reserve release shown 
below.  

Housing & Wellbeing 1,093  1,009  (84) Staff vacancies of £(49)k.  

Appendix C

Page 139



Service Area 

Net 
Revised 
Budget 

2021/22 

Projected 
 Outturn 
2021/22 

Variance 
(underspend)/ 

overspend 

Summary of Main 
Variances 

  £’000 £’000 £’000   

Regulation 867  699  (168)  

£65k increased 
expenditure in Building 
Control forecast, together 
with LCC Income for public 
health offset partially by 
expenditure 

Operations 1,268  1,512 244 

£285k additional costs in 
Refuse and Recycling on 
rounds and staffing / 
agency issues to ensure 
performance maintained.   
New bin purchases £109k 
funded from reserves. 

Economic Growth 319  470 151 

£142k additional 
expenditure on Economic 
Development funded from 
reserves below 

Assets  (953) (625) 328 

A £258k net overspend in 
car parking and £168k net 
overspend on 
Bereavement services.    

Planning 194  156 (38) 
Vacancies within Planning 
Policy 

BTAC    716  716 0    

A. Net Service 
Expenditure 

7,416  7,836  420  

 

Other Council Net 
Expenditure  

      

  

Drainage Boards 2,009  2,009 0    

Direct Revenue Financing 
of Capital 

1,088  1,340 252 
This reflects the Capital 
Programme 

Minimum Revenue 
Provision 

15  15  0  
  

Investment Income - 
Gross 

(39) (21) 18  
Reduced income due to 
historically low interest 
rates 

Income Receivable from 
Property Funds (Gross)  

(977) (893) 84  
Reduced income due to 
changing market 
conditions 

Interest Payable 494  494  0    

Net Transfer (from)/to 
Earmarked Reserves 

(770) (2,599) (1,829) 
Release of Sport England 
Grant referenced above, 
funding for Economic 

Page 140



Service Area 

Net 
Revised 
Budget 

2021/22 

Projected 
 Outturn 
2021/22 

Variance 
(underspend)/ 

overspend 

Summary of Main 
Variances 

  £’000 £’000 £’000   

Development, funding on 
bin purchases and S31 
Grants received in 20/21 
but required in 21/22 

B. Other Council Net 
Expenditure 

1,820  345  (1,475) 
  

 
   

 
Total Net Council 
Expenditure (A+B)  

9,236  8,181  (1,055) 
  

     
Council Financing £’000 £’000 £’000   

Council Tax  (4,585) (4,585) 0    

Business Rates (1,168) (1,168) 0    

Renewable Energy (158) (158) 0    

Non-Ring-Fenced 
Government Grant 

(3,325) (1,948) 1,377 

Section 31 Grant received 
in 20/21 budgeted for here 
but released from reserves 

above 

C. Total Financing (9,236) (7,859) 1,377    

     
Net Council  
(Underspend) / 
Overspend (A+B+C) 

0  322  322    

 
Although there is a forecast overspend at this point of the year the position could still change in the 
latter half of the year depending on a number of factors. The Council prudently put aside £1,423k in a 
COVID pressures reserve at the end of 2020/21 and therefore if the forecast overspend transpires then 
this can be used to fund it. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 141



3 Trading Income  

 
The Council has a number of demand led budget areas, which are reliant on receiving income for 
services provided. The COVID-19 pandemic, however, has had a significant impact on the sales, 
fees and charges income, most notably Parking, Leisure, Bereavement and Planning. These areas 
are included in the following table: 
 
Table 2 – Trading Income: 
 

Income Area 
Budget 
 £000s 

Projected 
Outturn 
 £000s 

Variance 
£000s 

Building Control  (170) (170) 0  

Planning  (566) (477) 89  

Land Charges  (78) (72) 6  

Licensing  (131) (121) 10  

Garden Waste (574) (580) (6) 

Bereavement  (896) (779) 117  

Commercial Waste (314) (300) 14  

Parking  (1,019) (815) 204  

Markets  (80) (70) 10  

Leisure (918) (531) 387  

Total (4,746) (3,915) 831  

 
 

The total claim for Covid Sales Fees and Charges compensation grant for Q1 2021/22 was £66k (versus 
£856k in total last year of which £319k related to Q1).  The quarter 1 claim this year is the last one and 
figures are subject to a government reconciliation process.  The claim has been allowed for in the 
forecasting above in table 1.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 142



4 Earmarked Reserves 
 

The following table shows the level of earmarked reserves held at the beginning of the year, 
movements in the year, and the position at 31 March 2022 (assuming no further adjustments): 
 
Table 3 – Earmarked Reserves 

Reserve 
Balance at 
31 March 

2021 £000s 

Contributions 
Into Reserves 

Contributions 
out of 

Reserves 

Balance at 
31 March 

2022 £000s 

Capital Funding  (5,339) (996) 1,124 (5,211) 

Transformation Reserve (1,745) (30) 730 (985) 

Repairs and Renewals  (725) (35) 69 (691) 

ICT Reserve (276) - 247 (29) 

Housing Reserve (1,247) (578) 538 (1,287) 

Controlling Migration  (14)  14 - 

Insurance Reserve (274) - - (274) 

Property Funds Returns   (1,116) - - (1,116) 

Funding Volatility Reserve (6,520)  1,516 (5,004) 

COVID-19 Reserve  (1,423)   (1,423) 

  (18,679) (1,639) 4,238 (16,080) 

 
  
Notes to Reserve Table 

 The overall position is £2,599k net movements from reserves above   

 Capital Funding Reserve – the proposed movement in reserve reflects changes to in-year 
financing requirements associated with the revised capital programme, as set out in 
section 6 and the funding of bin purchases. 

 Transformation Reserve – includes £515k related to Community Hardship £50k and £464k 
Community Champion funding 2020/21 

 Housing Reserve – the proposed movement includes the release of homeless reduction 
grants agreed in MTFS and subsequently reported movements advised by service.  

 Repairs and Renewals Reserve – the proposed movement in reserve reflects changes to 
the in-year financing requirements associated with the revised capital programme, as set 
out in section 8. 

 Funding Volatility Reserve - the proposed movement in reserve reflects changes to the in-
year financing requirements and £1,331k has been released (to match a shortfall on the 
budgeted grant financing figure.) 

 
 

 

Recommendation:  
 

F1 Cabinet to recommend to council the proposed movements in Table 3, Appendix C 

 
 
 
 

Page 143



5 Treasury Management   
 
At 30 September 2021, the Council held £24.105m in cash investments (£23.715m at 30 June) and 
£20.517m in property funds (£20.118m at 30 June). 
 
The Council budgeted to receive £1,016,000 in gross investment income in 2021/22 comprising £977,000 
from Property Funds (including £215,000 of management fees), and £39,000 from cash investments. 
 
At 30 September 2021, total gross investment income for the year is estimated to be £914,000 comprising 
£893,000 gross from Property Funds and £21,000 from cash investments. Property fund management 
fees for 2020/21 are estimated at £215,000.  Management fees are in the service lines the income is 
shown gross. Due to the volatility in forecasting an estimate is shown for the year and significant 
movements will be advised when clear. 
 
In 2021/22 quarter 2 the Council achieved an average gross revenue return from the Property Fund 
purchases of 3.24% after fees 
 
Treasury (cash) Investments achieved an average rate of 0.10%.  
 
Table 4 - Property Funds as at 30 September 2021 
    

Property Fund Sum 
Invested 

 
 
 

£000 

Fair Value 
30 June 

2021 
 
 

£000 

Fair Value 
30 Sept 

2021 
 
 

£000 

Gain 
/(Loss) in 
Q2 2021-

22 
 

£000 

Black Rock  4,500 4,491 4,629 138 

Schroders 4,250 4,351 4,450 99 

Threadneedle 4,239 3,947 4,094 147 

M&G 4,000 3,605 3,716 111 

AEW 4,000 3,724 3,824 100 

TOTAL 20,989 20,118 20,713 595 

NB The Gain / (Loss) in Q1 was 626. 
 
External Borrowing 
 
At the start of the 2020/21 financial year, the Council’s total long-term borrowing was £16.449m.  Total 
annual interest payable on external borrowing is estimated at £494,000. 
 
No additional borrowing was undertaken during the quarter ended 30 September 2021. 

 
External Borrowing 

 
At the start of the 2020/21 financial year, the Council’s total long-term borrowing was £16.449m.  Total 
annual interest payable on external borrowing is estimated at £492,400. 

 
No additional borrowing was undertaken during the quarter ended 30th September 2021. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 144



6  Capital 
 
Table 5 – Capital Programme for 2021/22    
 
The following table shows the approved capital programme for 2021/22 as reported to Full Council on 1 
March 2021 and subsequently slippage from 2020/21 as presented in the outturn report in June 2021, 
plus other known in-year changes together with actual spend to the end of quarter 2: 
 
 

Scheme 2021/22 
Approved 
Program. 
Feb. 2021 

£’000 

2021/22 
Program. 

with 
slippage 

£’000 

In Year 
Changes 

 
 

£’000 

Revised 
Program. 

 
 

£’000 

Actuals to 
30 

September 
2021 
£’000 

Scheme      
Disabled Facilities Grants* 280 669 - 949 140 
Housing Strategy 56 - - 56 - 
Resurfacing and Footpath Improvements  

48 
 

- 
 

- 
 

48 
 

- 
Noise Monitoring Equipment 10 - - 10 10 
Town Centre Heritage Scheme (PSICA 2)  

1,189 
 

208 
 

- 
 

1,397 
 

64 
Multi Use Games Area (CMF) - 23 - 23 - 
Information Technology Refresh 197 3 - 200 10 
Vehicle Replacement      
    Ransomes Mower 20 - - 20 - 
    Ford Transit tipper van x 2   - 22 - 22 - 
    Ford Vans x 2 Supervisors - 8 15 23 - 
    Refuse Vehicle - - 170 170 - 
Recycling Bin Purchase    24 - - 24 - 
PE21 Boston Town Deal-Accelerated 
Funding** 

- 
 

400 - 400 
 

122 
 

ICT Finance Upgrade 634 
 

- 
 

- 634 
 

629 
 

      

 2,458 1,333 185 3,976 975 

 
Currently there are no forecast variance predicted on the Capital programme but this will be closely 
monitored and updated within the quarter three report. 
 
*Disabled Facility Grants 
 
Cumulative funding, including grants funding allocation for 2021/22 of £633k, total £949k.  
 
Housing services are constantly seeking opportunities to increase the pace of delivery for the benefit of 
clients. 
 
**Boston Town Deal – Accelerated Funding 
 
The £400k allocation in 2021/22 is the remainder of the overall Accelerate Funding of £750k received in 
September 2020. Spend within current year is for earmarked schemes including contribution to Boston 
Witham Foundation Academy for a 3G pitch. 
 

Page 145



Recommendation:  
 

F2 Cabinet to recommend to council to approve the updated capital programme position 
as detailed in Table 5, Appendix C 

 

 
 
7 Insurance  
The number of insurance claims against the Council are relatively small and are in line with previous 
years. Not all claims result in the Council making a settlement payment. 
 
 A summary of the number of claims received, comparing them to 2020/21 in brackets, is given below: 
 
Table 6 – Insurance claims received 
 

Cover Q1 Q2 

Public Liability 0 (0) 1(2) 

Employer’s Liability 0 (0) 0(0) 

Motor 1 (1) 1(2) 

Property 0 (0) 0(0) 

Total 1 (1) 2(4) 

 
 
8 Procurement Exemptions 
None notified at this quarter. Any outstanding advised will be reported separately or in Quarter 3 
report. 
 
9 Localisation of Business Rates 
 
Table 7 

 Base Estimate 
included in 

2021/22 
Budget 

£ 

Forecast 
Position at 
31st March 

2022 
£ 

(Surplus)/Deficit in 
2021/22 – will impact 

next year’s budget 
£ 

Business Rates Income for the year (20,507,213) (16,476,542) 4,030,671 

Less: LCC Share (10% for 21/22) 2,050,721 1,647,654 (403,067) 

Less: Government Share (50% for 
21/22) 

10,253,607 8,238,271 (2,015,336) 

Boston Borough Council’s Income 
(Excluding renewables) (40% for 
21/22) 

(8,202,885) (6,590,617) 1,612,268 

 
The position in the table above shows a large deficit against the base estimate, the main reason for this 
is the retail discount offered by the government in response to the Coronavirus pandemic to assist 
retailers. This discount will be reimbursed by the government however due to the way the Collection 
Fund is accounted for the income is received in 2021/22 but the Business Rates deficit will not be seen 
in the Council’s accounts until 2022/23. As a result of this circa £772k of additional income is due to be 
received in 2021/22 and this will need to be transferred into reserves at the end of the financial year for 
use in the 2022/23 budget. The difference between this income and the deficit above is due to a 
reduction in gross rates across all businesses which is being closely monitored. 
 

Page 146



10 Sundry Debts 
 
Table 8 
 

Quarter 2 0-30 Days 31 – 91 Days 92 – 365 
Days 

Over 365 Days Total 

 £ £ £ £ £ 

 256,987 39,512 236,660 175,848 709,007 

 
 
 
 

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 
 

REPORT TO: CABINET 

DATE: 8TH DECEMBER 2021 

SUBJECT: ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CORPORATE STRATEGY 

KEY DECISION: 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

NO 

COUNCILLOR NIGEL WELTON 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: 

SUZANNE ROLFE, INSIGHTS & TRANSFORMATION MANAGER 

ALL 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

Boston Borough Council’s Corporate Strategy was adopted by Full Council in November 2020. 

This report provides an opportunity to review the priorities to ensure that they are still relevant 

and fit for purpose. Any proposed changes to the priorities would need to be referred to Full 

Council to make the final decision. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. To note the feedback from Corporate & Community Committee on 4th November 2021 

2. To confirm the corporate priorities remain fit for purpose for the year ahead, with a 

further review in a year’s time 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To undertake the annual review of the Corporate Strategy 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

To not carry out an annual review 

 

  

Page 149

Agenda Item 8



BACKGROUND 

1. Boston’s Corporate Strategy was adopted by Full Council on 23rd November 2020, following 

consultation with stakeholders. 

2. The Strategy is published on the website at: https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-

content/uploads/2020/11/Corporate-Strategy-2020-to-2024.pdf  

3. The 4 priorities are: 

• Priority 1 – People Focused (Our Main Priority) 

• Priority 2 – Future Prosperity, Regeneration and Inclusive Growth 

• Priority 3 – Environmental Awareness and Accountability 

• Priority 4 – Delivering high quality services and maximising use of technology to support 

residents 

4. The Annual Delivery Plan, setting out the key objectives and achievements for 2021/2022 is 

published on the website at: https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-

content/uploads/2021/07/Annual-Delivery-Plan-2021-22-All-Services.pdf  

 

REPORT 

1. Corporate and Community Committee reviewed the priorities at its meeting on 4th November 

2021 to ensure that they remain fit for purpose. The Committee resolved that the Corporate 

Strategy and its Corporate Priorities be supported.  

2. The Corporate Strategy sets out 4 priorities. These are set out below for Cabinet to review to 

consider whether or not these remain the right priorities for the Borough. 

Priority 1 – People Focused (Our Main Priority) 

Boston – Live, Work and Visit – Amazing Place to Live 

We want Boston to be a place where people want to live, a place where they can thrive in their 

local communities, feel safe, secure, healthy and welcome. 

We will: 

• Help ensure our community continues to feel safe by maintaining our existing community 

safety funding/resources. 

• Invest and support growth to meet local housing needs by co-funding affordable housing 

delivery. 

• Educate and enforce to improve the quality of rented properties in the Borough. 

• Provide affordable and accessible leisure opportunities for all. 

• Work in partnership to deliver improved transport networks, both road and rail, particularly 

to Lincoln as well as other cities. 

• Work in partnership to secure excellent broadband to all homes in the Borough. 

Page 150

https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Corporate-Strategy-2020-to-2024.pdf
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Corporate-Strategy-2020-to-2024.pdf
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Annual-Delivery-Plan-2021-22-All-Services.pdf
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Annual-Delivery-Plan-2021-22-All-Services.pdf


Fantastic Place to Work – We want people to THINK BOSTON, Think Business 

We will: 

• Make Boston a healthy and safe place to work. 

• Promote growth and infrastructure including improved rail, road networks and waterways. 

• Work with utility companies to ensure that local infrastructure is fit for purpose (i.e 

broadband, electricity supply and mobile phone networks) 

• Promote Boston’s economy, industry and opportunities. 

Memorable Place to Visit – VISIT Boston 

We want Boston to be a diverse and vibrant town to explore and discover, with a range of quality 

national and independent shops, wonderful dining experiences and a unique history and heritage. 

We want to build on this to further develop the visitor economy and position Boston as a leading 

visitor destination. 

We will: 

• Manage and enhance the heritage assets of Boston to increase tourism. 

• Seek new opportunities to encourage visitors to Boston through culture, arts, events and 

sport. 

• Increase the promotion of Boston as a visitor destination and improve its public spaces. 

• Work with external agencies towards achieving water level management on the Haven 

through the town. 

 

Priority 2 – Future Prosperity, Regeneration and Inclusive Growth  

As a regional sub-centre of the county, we want to grow Boston’s economy to ensure it remains a 

thriving town where people choose to live, work and visit. In doing so it is important we 

understand the needs of our communities and achieve growth in a way that is inclusive. 

This includes ensuring the Council is fit for purpose and maintains its robust financial governance, 

remains financially sustainable and continues its journey towards becoming truly commercial. 

Sustainable Economic Growth 

We will: 

• Support existing business. 

• Further develop our relationship with the port to support its growth and increase 

international trade links. 

• Ensure potential investors recognise Boston as a Borough open for investment. 

• Signpost opportunities for funding, partnering, learning skills and business growth support. 

• Promote skills and enterprise through partnerships with education providers and 

businesses. 

• Use available evidence to inform the decisions we make about growth initiatives. 

  

Page 151



Inward Investment 

We will: 

• Promote and facilitate inward investment by working with strategic partners to make 

Boston a location of choice. 

• Work with Boston Town Deal Board to prepare the Investment Plan and interventions and 

deliver the identified projects. 

• Develop the bold investment plan and explore delivery models for the PE21 ambition. 

• Equip the town centre to adapt to behavioural change and economic growth more 

generally, including developing the retail experience. 

• Implement the Local Plan and undertake specific master planning and policy reviews to 

support delivery of growth within the Borough. 

Promote Boston’s Potential 

We will: 

• Promote Boston regionally, nationally and internationally as a place to live, work and visit. 

• To continue to develop existing commercial and other arrangements to further promote 

Boston internationally. 

• Promote trade and tourism opportunities created by the multinational community of the 

area. 

• Promote Boston as a visitor hub for the area. 

• Develop our membership of the New Hanseatic League (Die Hanse), to promote tourism in 

Boston Borough and Lincolnshire in general. 

• Build on the transatlantic relationship with Boston USA. 

 

Priority 3 – Environmental Awareness and Accountability 

The Council declared a climate change emergency in January 2020, committing to reduce the 

Council’s carbon footprint and become net zero carbon in advance of the timetable declared by UK 

Parliament. The Borough Council will play its role to ensure we begin to reverse the impact on 

climate change. We will encourage others to follow our example and be more environmentally 

aware. 

We will: 

• Develop a Carbon Reduction Plan for the Council to achieve the target agreed. 

• Ensure that every service and policy deliver on the climate change commitments of the 

Council to support positive environmental impact on the Borough. 

• Proactively educate and enforce against environmental crime, such as fly tipping and 

littering, to both protect the environment and keep the Borough clean and tidy. 

• Work with partners to encourage the community to produce less waste and recycle more. 

• Be climate aware and spearhead the change in thinking about the impact that our actions 

have, not only on the local environment here in Boston but also on the entire planet. 

  

Page 152



Priority 4 – Delivering high quality services and maximising use of technology to support 

residents 

There is continued pressure on funding to Local Government, whilst at the same time the demand 

is increasing for many of the services we deliver. Making use of the latest technology will increase 

the efficiency of our services so we can deliver more for our communities. There is also the 

opportunity to be more creative in the ways we generate income to fund our core services. 

We will: 

• Make better use of technology and data to reduce costs and improve performance and 

efficiency. 

• Produce and deliver a Workforce Development Strategy that supports the delivery of the 

Corporate Strategy. 

• Seek new and more creative ways to generate income to support the Council’s ambitions. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
No financial implications specific to this report 
 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

No legal implications specific to this report 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

Priority 3 of the Corporate Strategy 

 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 

No equality and safeguarding implications specific to this report 

 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  

None 

 
CONSULTATION 

Consultation with the Corporate & Community Committee 

 

APPENDICES 

None 

 
 

  

Page 153



BACKGROUND PAPERS 

No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were used 

in the production of this report. 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item was previously considered by Corporate & Community Committee on 4th 

November 2021. 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Suzanne Rolfe; suzanne.rolfe@boston.gov.uk  

Signed off by: James Gilbert; james.gilbert@e-lindsey.gov.uk  

Approved for publication: Cllr Nigel Welton; nigel.welton@boston.gov.uk  

 

 

Page 154

mailto:suzanne.rolfe@boston.gov.uk
mailto:james.gilbert@e-lindsey.gov.uk
mailto:nigel.welton@boston.gov.uk

	Agenda
	A MINUTES
	3 LINCOLNSHIRE WOMEN'S CONCORDAT
	1A Appendix A - Lincolnshire Women's Strategy
	1B Appendix D - Letter from Marc Jones
	1C Appendix E - LWS Concordat Pledge

	4 EMPOWERING HEALTHY COMMUNITIES: COUNCILLOR GRANT SCHEME UPDATE
	Appendix A -Councillor Grant Scheme Policy and Information Guide
	Blank Page

	Appendix B - Application Form
	Untitled
	Untitled


	5 LOCAL COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME 2022/23
	Appendix A - Minute from Corporate and Community Committee
	Appendix B Consultation Report

	6 QUARTER 4 REPORT - FINANCE
	Appendix A - Finance Q4 2020.21

	7 QUARTER 2 REPORT - PERFORMANCE, RISK AND FINANCE
	Appendix A - Q2 Performace
	Appendix B - Q2 Projects Update
	Sheet1

	Appendix C - Q2 Finance

	8 ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE CORPORATE STRATEGY

	Organisation name: 
	Contact name: 
	Position held in the organisation: 
	Address including postcode: 
	Telephone: 
	Email: 
	Other please provide details: 
	Name on bank account: 
	Bank Sort Code: 
	Bank Account Number: 
	Building Society Roll Number where applicable: 
	undefined_10: 
	undefined_11: 
	Start date must not be before the grant is approved: Off
	undefined_12: 
	Completion date must be within 12 months of receiving the grant: Off
	undefined_13: 
	undefined_14: 
	undefined_15: 
	undefined_16: 
	15 What benefits will the project deliver to the local community: 
	undefined_17: 
	Date_3: 
	Date_4: 
	Declaration of Ineterest If none state none1: 
	Declaration of Ineterest If none state none2: 
	Declaration of Ineterest If none state none3: 
	6 a Yes: Off
	6 a No: Off
	6 b Yes: Off
	6 b No: Off
	Check Box1: Off
	Check Box2: Off
	Check Box3: Off
	Check Box4: Off
	Check Box5: Off
	Check Box6: Off
	8 No: Off
	8 Yes: Off
	18 a Yes: Off
	18 a No: Off
	18 b Yes: Off
	18 b No: Off
	18 c Yes: Off
	18 c No: Off
	18 d Yes: Off
	18 d No: Off
	18 e Yes: Off
	18 e No: Off
	18 f Yes: Off
	18 f No: Off
	18 g Yes: Off
	18 g No: Off
	18 h Yes: Off
	18 h No: Off
	Date: 
	Signature: 
	18 i Yes: Off
	19 Yes: Off
	19 No: Off
	18 i No: Off
	Date_2: 
	Amount 1: 
	Amount 2: 
	Amount 3: 
	Councillor Name 1: 
	Councillor Name 2: 
	Councillor Name 3: 
	Check Box7: Off
	Check Box9: Off
	Check Box10: Off
	Check Box11: Off
	Check Box12: Off
	Check Box13: Off
	Check Box14: Off
	Check Box15: Off
	Check Box16: Off


